

Stjórnmálafræðideild

MA-ritgerð í alþjóðasamskiptum

Human Security, Gender and Development A Test-Case for Iceland's Assistance Policy

Nanna Rún Ásgeirsdóttir Júní 2010

Leiðbeinandi: Alyson Judith Kirtley Bailes

Nemandi: Nanna Rún Ásgeirsdóttir

Kennitala: 310881-4229

Abstract

The aim of this thesis is to seek an understanding of women's human security in developing countries, and to ask whether the human security concept as such can live up to expectations as a practical guide to improving women's lot. Iceland's stance on aid provision and its promotion of gender issues is also examined, to see whether the country's efforts are being directed to the right targets and for maximum effect. The subject is approached by introducing a historical summary of the rise of 'human security' thinking followed by a theoretical discussion of the concept. This twofold introduction provides a clearer picture of the concept's utility and its limitations.

To see how different security threats may face women within developing countries, the seven categories of human security defined in the 1994 UNDP report are then used to give a non-exhaustive review of the problems. This approach is then narrowed down to focus on Uganda as a test case. The results show that there can be no human security without including the dimension of gender, as gender equality is a precondition for human security. The review also highlights that despite the concept's limits for framing practical policies, it does help in asking important questions.

Finally Iceland's international development efforts are shown to have increased considerably in recent years with many important steps taken to this end. In the same manner Iceland is shown to have increased its emphasis on issues of gender equality and women's security, despite still having much to learn in this and other aspects of aid. Many hopeful prospects are in sight for Iceland in future: as a donor, a partner, and in terms of mutual learning about the true inter-linkages of gender, security and development.

Útdráttur

Í þessari ritgerð er leitast við að varpa ljósi á öryggi kvenna í þróunarlöndum og svara þeirri spurningu hvort hugmyndin um mannöryggi geti uppfyllt væntingar um hentuga leið til að bæta stöðu kvenna. Einnig er litið til afstöðu Íslands í þróunarmálum og framlag þess í þágu kynjajafnréttismálefna og skoðað er hvort markmiðssetning sé rétt til að hámarka árangur. Viðfangsefnið er kynnt með sögulegri samantekt með hugmyndinni um mannöryggi, hvernig hún varð til og hvernig hún hefur þróast. Að þeim þætti loknum tekur við fræðileg umræða. Þessari tvískiptu umfjöllun er ætlað að gefa skýrari mynd af nytsemi og takmörkum hugmyndinnar.

Til að skilja betur það sem ógnað getur öryggi kvenna í þróunarlöndum er fjallað um sjö víddir hugmyndarinnar um mannöryggi eins og þær birtast í Þróunarskýrslu Sameinuðu þjóðanna frá 1994. Þannig er gefið nokkuð yfirlit yfir möguleg vandamál. Þessi nálgun er síðan þrengd enn frekar, þar sem Úganda er tekið sem dæmi. Niðurstöðurnar sýna að ekki verði hægt að koma á mannöryggi án þess að tekið sé mið af kyni og kyngervi, þar sem kynjajafnrétti er forsenda mannöryggis. Umfjöllunin sýnir einnig að þrátt fyrir vissar takmarkanir hugmyndarinnar við hagnýta stefnumótun, þá er hún engu að síður gagnleg til að varpa fram mikilvægum spurningum.

Að lokum er sýnt fram á að framlag Íslands til þróunarmála hefur aukist töluvert síðastliðin ár og mörg mikilvæg skref hafa verið stigin. Á sama hátt er sýnt fram á aukna áherslu Íslands í málefnum er varða kynjajafnrétti og öryggi kvenna, þrátt fyrir að ríkið eigi enn margt ólært í þeim efnum sem og öðrum. Það eru góðar horfur fyrir Ísland að þessu leiti í framtíðinni, hvað varðar þekkingu á innbyrðis tengslum á milli: hlutskiptis kynjanna, öryggis og þróunar.

Preface

This thesis is the final assignment in the MA studies of International Relations at the University of Iceland. It accounts for 30 ECTS credits and the instructor was Alyson Bailes, Adjunct Lecturer at the University of Iceland.

The reason for human security, gender and development becoming the research topic of this thesis can be traced back to my internship in 2008 for ICEIDA in Mozambique. There I was acquainted with numerous inspiring people who were glad to share their experiences and knowledge of the country, the culture and the world of development. During my time in Mozambique, I was also especially touched by the Mozambican women, whether it was through their hard work, learning, singing, dancing and living.

I would like to express gratitude towards the Icelandic Defence Agency and the Institute of International Affairs, for a valuable grant in aid of my studies. I also appreciate the contribution of a number of people who have played a part in the making of this thesis. First and foremost, appreciation and heartfelt thanks go to my supervisor, Alyson Bailes for her invaluable guidance, professional supervision and critique during the period of writing this thesis. I would also like to thank Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, Deputy Director General to ICEIDA for all her help. I am deeply indebted to my friend Sunna Kristín Símonardóttir for her immense support and editorial advice. Special gratitude goes also to my father, Ásgeir Beinteinsson, who has through the years always shown an interest in my studies and been willing to lend a hand. Finally I would like to thank my fiancé, fellow students, friends and family for their general support and discussions during the period of my studies.

Table of Contents

Abstract	3
Útdráttur	4
Preface	5
Table of Contents	6
Introduction	8
1.1. Human Security and Women's Security	9
1.2. The Case of Uganda	11
1.3. Goals, Structure and Method	11
2. Development and Security: Practice and Theory	13
2.1 Human Security: History and Significance	13
2.1.1. Security within States and International Bodies	19
2.2 Human Security among Other Theories	22
2.2.1. Constructivism and Securitization.	24
2.2.2. Feminism and Gender	27
2.3. Why Women's Security?	31
2.4. Conclusion	32
3. Women's Human Security	33
3.1. Economic Security	34
3.2. Food Security	38
3.3. Health Security	39
3.4. Environmental Security	40
3.5. Personal Security	42
3.6. Community Security	45
3.7. Political Security	46
3. 8. Conclusion	48
4. Uganda	50
4.1. Economic Security	53
4.2. Food Security	55
4.3. Health Security	57
4.4. Environmental security	58
4.5. Personal security	59
4.6. Community Security	61
4.7 Political Security	63

4.8. Conclusion	66
5. Iceland	67
5.1. Icelandic Official Actors and Policies	70
5.2. Multilateral Contributions	73
5.3. Bilateral contributions	76
5.4. Nordic Cooperation	79
5.5. Possible Critiques	81
5.6. Recommendations	84
6. Conclusion	86
Bibliography	91
Annex: List of Abbreviations and Acronyms	108

Introduction

Towards the end of last century with the post Cold War era, a different security agenda has become defined and widely accepted in international discourse. Among the innovations was a new security concept know as human security, and while this concept has been challenged both in theory and practice during institutional and theoretical debates, it is very far from dead today. Even though it has proved somewhat impractical as a direct guide for policy making, human security has already helped establish an international moral stand on the importance of the individual's security as opposed to focusing mainly on the interests of the state.

Human security provides the framework for this thesis in two ways. First, it offers a way of bringing together the previously different or even conflicting topics of security and development. Second, once the security of the individual becomes the focus, a new strong basis is provided for addressing the insecurity differences between men and women. Over the past twenty years or so, knowledge and awareness concerning women and violence has been on the rise and such violence has come to be considered one of the main obstacles to development and peace. Yet the connections between these various topics remain hard to establish both in theory and practice, and much greater and deeper effort is needed in all the stages of research, policy formulation, and implementation.

The ultimate aim of this dissertation is to seek an understanding of women's human security in developing countries, and to ask whether the human security concept as such can live up to expectations in guiding practical measures to improve women's lot. The subject will be approached by a brief examination of the concept's history followed by an analysis of relevant theories and their linkages. The focus then moves onto the specific agenda of women's human security; which is later narrowed down to a country analysis of Uganda. Finally, Iceland's stance on aid provision and the promotion of gender security will be examined – to see whether the country's efforts are being directed to the right targets and for maximum effect.

1.1. Human Security and Women's Security

One may ask why this subject is of theoretical and practical importance. One of many reasons to explore it is the lack of consensus on what has been loosely termed as human security studies. Dr. Fen Osler Hampson states in his informative summary on the topic that despite growing investment in research and interest in human security to date, there continues to be methodological, definitional and conceptual dissent and uncertainty about the real meaning of human security. He further states that there is great unevenness in both the breadth and depth of research on particular themes, and mentions specifically the problem of gender directed violence as an issue that has only recently begun to receive deserved attention as a symptom and source of human insecurity. The same can be said for the related issue of defining the security-development nexus, where implications for policy intervention still require further investigation.

But why deal with women's human security in developing countries in relation to Iceland's foreign policy? The main reason is that Iceland has already started to emphasise an agenda based on the importance of gender equality in several ways. One recent development that supports this claim would be the foundation of The Gender Equality Training Programme (GET Programme) a cooperative project between the University of Iceland and the Ministry for Foreign Affairs. It launched in October 2009 and will run as a pilot project throughout 2011. The project is part of the government's development cooperation efforts and will later undergo an external review, which will be used as a basis to apply for the project to become part of the United Nations University training programmes.³ Another recent example is Iceland's emphasis on the role of gender, which it was applauded and praised for, during the Copenhagen Climate Conference in December 2009.⁴

Iceland is currently also among the group of sixteen countries that have developed and started implementing *National Action Plans on Resolution 1325*; Women, Peace and Security. Iceland launched its National Action Plan in March 2008, becoming the tenth country to do so.⁵ The Icelandic foreign policy emphasis

¹ Hampson, 2008: 230.

² Rød-Larsen, Terje. 2010: viii.

³ GET Programme, 2009a.

⁴ Háskóli Íslands, 2010.

⁵ Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2008a.

on UNSCR 1325 was further demonstrated with an international conference on this topic held in Reykjavík in June 2009.⁶

Former Minister for Foreign Affairs Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir stated in the spring of 2008 that Iceland's foreign policy would work for cooperation between countries based on international law and responsible participation within the international community, making use of three categories of Icelandic strengths, one of them being the advancement of the battle for gender equality and the strong image of Icelandic women. Much has happened since this policy statement was put forth, including the Icelandic financial crash, Iceland losing out on a seat in the Security Council elections and the arrival of a new Minister for Foreign Affairs. There is however little to suggest that the policy outlined by Gísladóttir has changed extensively, as the present Minister of Foreign Affairs, Össur Skarphéðinsson has stated publicly that he intends to continue with the good work Gísladóttir started in this field. 8 Nevertheless, the conditions for policy success have been affected by drastic cutbacks in Icelandic foreign policy in general, inter alia in resources for development cooperation and Icelandic Defence and Security matters. This makes it all the more important to apply an objective analysis to Icelandic efforts – in the present case, concerning women and security in aid-receiving countries.

A further part of the background when assessing Icelandic effectiveness is that Iceland has only recently started to develop its own explicit overall security policy. The recent *Icelandic Risk Assessment Report* from March 2009 is the first step of its kind towards the formulation of a multi-functional security strategy for the nation in the 21st century. The same might be said for the founding of the Icelandic Defence Agency (IDA) in June 2008, as a body working under the Ministry for Foreign Affairs and overseeing both practical and analytical efforts for national defence and security. New arrangements are now being prepared for reallocating the IDA's work between other official bodies, as the Agency will be shut down. It remains to be seen if this will promote the further development and coherence of Iceland's security posture.

⁶ 1325 Women Negotiating Peace, 2009a.

⁷ Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir, 2008: 2.

⁸ Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2009: 3.

⁹ Varnarmálastofnun Íslands, 2008.

1.2. The Case of Uganda

Why is Uganda a country of interest? Several reasons explain this choice. Uganda is one of Iceland's five partner countries for bilateral developmental cooperation through the Icelandic International Development Agency (ICEIDA). The Agency is an autonomous agency under the Icelandic Ministry for Foreign Affairs and its main objective is to reduce poverty and improve the quality of life among the poorest. It emphasises sustainable economic and social development with gender quality, human rights, democracy and environmental sustainability as a frame of reference.¹⁰

Uganda is also a country of interesting contradictions. Uganda is a heavily aid-dependent country which has received international praise in recent years for high growth and decline in poverty. Uganda has demonstrated a high level of commitment to improving aid effectiveness and been claimed as a development success story. It has also been seen as a model in establishing policies, framework and legislation to advance gender equality. 11 Nonetheless the country has had its share of difficulties, including a long history of civil war and more recently a longstanding war with the Lord's Resistance Army (LRA) in northern Uganda. The war with LRA displaced over two million people which created a humanitarian disaster still affecting the country today. The unstable countries along Uganda's borders such as the Democratic Republic of Congo (DRC) and Sudan and other countries recently plagued with conflict like Rwanda, added to the threat still posed by LRA to Uganda, ¹² raise serious questions regarding future state stability. Since it faces such grave 'traditional' security challenges alongside the broader ones linked to human development, Uganda is an interesting country when considering human security related policies.

1.3. Goals, Structure and Method

In sum, this thesis aims to explore the emerging new security emphasis within the work of development, and to relate it further to the specific topic of women's insecurity. This involves combining three broad themes, which are all cognate, interdependent, interrelated, important and complex, and have all recently been identified in international debate as issues of concern. In the essay's challenge lies

¹⁰ ICEIDA, 2007.

¹¹ Oxford Policy Management, 2008.

¹² Dagne, 2009.

also its limitation. In no way will it be possible to include all relevant aspects of the theoretical, practical or critical debate. This should not however prevent the honest attempt being made here at providing some important insight into the topic.

The thesis is organised into five chapters followed by a conclusion. The second chapter starts by giving a historical overview of the development of the human security concept and asking how it can help to explain the current situation within the field of security and development and to test the limitations and benefits of different policy approaches. In the third chapter, the relationship between security, development and concrete issues of women's security is explored in more detail. Along similar lines, the fourth chapter offers a more detailed review of how human security issues affect women within Uganda. The final and fifth chapter reviews Iceland's general approach to the range of challenges in aid-recipient countries and briefly assesses Iceland's experience of work in Uganda as such. It seeks lessons and conclusions on how Icelandic efforts could be optimized in this context and in similar cases in future.

The topic is approached by looking towards research, factual data, articles, reports, news and journals from a variety of different sources. Other notable references include lectures and interviews. Locating sources for the topic at hand did not prove problematic as a vast array of material exists. The challenge lay rather in limiting oneself and critically assessing which references were most reliable and best suited for the aim of this thesis.

2. Development and Security: Practice and Theory

Efforts for security and for human and economic development have for long been carried on separately both in terms of action and theory. If a link between them was recognized at all, it was of a sequential nature. As Sir Lawrence Freedman rightly puts it, the first focus was on conflict resolution and if successful, then started the work of development. This approach has been challenged as it is now considered a better option to have conflict management and long-term sustainable development go hand in hand at each stage. 14

Perhaps the most obvious and influential concept that has tried to bridge the security-development gap in recent times is that of human security. It provides the central focus of this chapter which will be presented in two parts. The first starts by giving a short historical summary of key points in human security's history which will then lead to a theoretical discussion of the concept. The historical overview is meant to highlight the concept's significance as a real world policy phenomenon and indicate the main issues that arise over translating it into practice. However, only a few core ideas relating to the concept will be covered, as an attempt to introduce all the different manifestations of how human security has been defined, portrayed, criticised or implemented would leave no room for any other discussion.

In the second part of the chapter, human security is supplemented with and related to a number of other theoretical frameworks that are relevant for this thesis's subject, including feminist theory and a gendered approach to security issues.

2.1 Human Security: History and Significance

Since the beginning of the post-Cold War era, a new security terrain has been established with the concept of human security. Not only has this idea sparked controversy, criticism and praise within the International Relations community, but also in an interconnected and related field - that of development. Before looking at the merging schools of thought on security and development, it remains

¹³ Picciotto, Olonisakin and Clarke, 2005: iv.

¹⁴ Newman, 2001: 249.

important to explain in detail the concept of human security and how it has laid the groundwork for the security-development nexus.

The end of the Cold War led to a new era in relations between states which resulted in changes within the theoretical discourse of International Relations. Wars and conflicts within states received more attention, while theorists struggled to explain why the Cold War had come to an end without being able to resort to their former popular theories of the realist tradition. When the concept of human security was brought to centre stage with the 1994 UNDP¹⁵ Human Development Report, it challenged the older realist paradigm of security. The concept was however not primarily developed and popularized by academics, as realism was; instead it was promoted and explored by development institutions and the governments of several countries. ¹⁶ The 1994 UNDP report criticized the former state-centred view of security in the following words:

..security has far too long been interpreted narrowly: as security of territory from external aggression, or as protection of national interests in foreign policy or as global security from the threat of a nuclear holocaust... Forgotten were the legitimate concerns of ordinary people who sought security in their daily lives. For many of them, security symbolized protection from the threat of disease, hunger, unemployment, crime, social conflict, political repression and environmental hazards.¹⁷

The report divided human security into seven categories; economic, food, health, environmental, personal, community and political. 18 This definition of human security, though widely criticised for differing reasons, is the most frequently cited and is considered 'authoritative' to date¹⁹ - perhaps simply because it was the first one. Nevertheless its continued validity remains an interesting fact in the light of later developments and criticism of the concept. The next passage will touch upon key developments in the history of the human security paradigm in an attempt to assess the concept's success.

The first point of mention is a statement from UN Secretary General Boutros-Boutros Ghali at the UN Security Council Summit Meeting in 1992. There he made a call for an integrated approach to human security to address the

¹⁵ United Nations Development Programme

¹⁶ Nuruzzaman, 2006: 290.

¹⁷ UNDP, 1994: 22.

¹⁸ Ibid: 24-25.

¹⁹ Paris, 2001: 90.

root causes of conflict, covering political, social and economic issues.²⁰ Connecting human security to addressing the root causes of conflict would later develop into one of the concept's most emphasised findings. It became one of the main topics of the UNDP report from 2005,²¹ which will be discussed later.

The UNDP 1994 report, as previously stated, has become known as the debut of human security. The main considerations of the report have been summarised as dealing with freedom from fear and want as well as protection and empowerment.²² The expression of freedom from fear and want in relation to human security dates back to the founding of the United Nations. What the 1994 report underlined and sought to correct was that the concept had latterly been tilted in favour of freedom from fear (i.e. violence and conflict) rather than want (i.e. the full range of basic human needs).²³

In March 1999 the United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security (UNTFHS) was established by the Government of Japan and the United Nations Secretariat. Since its launch, the UNTFHS has funded more than 175 projects in approximately 70 countries.²⁴

2001 was the founding year of the independent Commission on Human Security (CHS) under the chairmanship of Amartua Sen and Sadako Ogata. The Commission published its report *Human Security Now* in 2003, where a noteworthy definition of human security was formulated. The definition did not include the aforementioned seven categories of human security, but had instead been expanded;

to protect the vital core of all human lives in ways that enhance human freedoms and human fulfilment. ..it means creating political, social, environmental, economic, military and cultural systems that together give people the building blocks of survival, livelihood and dignity. ²⁵

In 2004 the UN Secretary General's High-level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change, a group of leading figures set up to reflect on 21st century challenges, recognised in its report the interconnectedness of a range of designated human security threats, as well as threats to states, and the need for cooperation on a

²⁰ UNTFHS, 2009b: 55.

²¹ UNDP, 2005.

²² Matthew, 2010: 56.

²³ UNDP, 1994: 24.

²⁴ UNTFHS, 2009b: 57.

²⁵ Commission on Human Security, 2003: 4.

greater scale to address them. The report acknowledged that issues and forces within states are critical to the security of all states. The main threats to the global system were categorised into six clusters: economic and social, interstate conflict, internal conflict, weapons of mass destruction, terrorism and transnational organized crime.²⁶ The report furthermore acknowledged a strong link between development and conflict.²⁷

In 2005, building on the high-level panel's findings, the UN Secretary General's report *In Larger Freedom, Security and Human Rights for All* offered a series of proposals for institutional reform and policy priorities designed to achieve the three goals of "freedom from want", "freedom from fear" and "freedom to live in dignity". ²⁸ Interestingly, while these aims of the report cover the primary core of human security, that concept as such is only mentioned once in the entire report. It is difficult to assess why that is, but it would seem possible to conclude that while the concept had already been established and recognised to a certain degree, the global consensus on human security was too weak for the Secretary-General to feel able to build his whole case upon it.

The UN *World Summit Outcome Document* adopted in September 2005 seems to confirm this assumption. In paragraph 143, Heads of States and Government affirmed the human security concept by recognizing that "all individuals, in particular vulnerable people, are entitled to freedom from fear and freedom from want, with an equal opportunity to enjoy all their rights and fully develop their human potential".²⁹ They also committed themselves to discussing and defining the notion of human security in the General Assembly.³⁰ In other words, the international community had not yet come to full agreement on what human security was or what action it entailed beyond the ideas of freedom from fear and want and the right to develop human potential. The Summit outcome thus attested to the concept's importance, yet also underlined its problems of definition.

In 2006, an informal and open-ended group called Friends of Human Security (FHS) was founded by representatives from international organizations

-

²⁶ United Nations, 2004: 23.

²⁷ UNTFHS, 2009b: 58.

²⁸ United Nations-General Assembly, 2005b

²⁹ United Nations-General Assembly, 2005a: 31.

³⁰ Ibid.

and certain UN member states.³¹ In this context it is interesting to quote speeches made by Under-Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs and Emergency Relief Coordinator (USG-ERC), Mr. John Holmes and Ambassador Yukio Takasu of Japan, at the most recent meeting of FHS in December 2009. Mr. John Holmes emphasised the immense importance of 2010 for human security. He specifically mentioned climate change and recent global financial and economic crisis in this respect, and pointed to the upcoming UN Secretary–General's report on human security as an opportunity to further mainstream and define the concept within the UN system.³²

Ambassador Yukio Takasu's speech was also informative in regards to the latest developments regarding human security. He listed important recent events in this context including the UN Security Council Resolutions on "Children and armed conflicts" (1882) and "Women, peace and security" (1888). Ambassador Takasu argued that while the term 'human security' was not included in these resolutions, they however reflected the spirit of human security thanks to the efforts of committed FHS members.³³ If one is to take the above statements at face value, they would seem to indicate that human security - though complex and difficult to define - has still been extremely influential in laying the groundwork for a changed mind-set within the UN. Such signs may even support the optimistic prediction of the 1994 Human Development Report drafters where they stated that that despite the concept's simplicity, it was likely to revolutionize society in the 21st century.³⁴

The 2005 UNDP Report International cooperation at a crossroads: Aid, trade and security in an unequal world, deals with one aspect of human security: insecurities arising from conflict.

The right to life and to security are among the most basic human rights. They are also among the most widely and systematically violated. Insecurity linked to armed conflict remains one of the greatest obstacles to human development.³⁵

This aspect of human security, understandably some would say, has received more attention than the other dimensions mentioned in the original concept.

³³ UNTFHS, 2009a.

³¹ UNTFHS, 2009b: 57.

³² UNTFHS, 2009a.

³⁴ UNDP. 1994: 22. ³⁵ UNDP, 2005: 151.

Conflicts occurring today pose the most direct and immediate threat to humans, while other threats that are less immediate and visible, though perhaps equally important, may be left on the sidelines. A growing literature on the merging fields of security and development³⁶ deals precisely with this matter. Interestingly, although security and development are the two combined elements of human security, and both fields stress the importance of a conflict dimension, it does not necessarily mean that all discussion regarding the security/development nexus takes place in the light of the human security agenda and focuses on how both terms relate to it.

The history of human security supports the thesis that that the ideological basis of the human security discourse and the development/security merger came into being around the same point in time. Human security paved the way for a deeper look at possible merging of the fields; but in an apparent paradox, in some respect the security/development nexus has emancipated itself today from human security. As Ambassador Takasu stated, it is possible to continue addressing these issues on the foundation created by human security without having to mention the concept specifically.

The question remains unanswered as to why this emphasis on insecurities arising from conflict has prevailed and what may be the reason behind the two schools of thought that address the same or similar issues? Political scientist Asti Suhrke brings up interesting points regarding human security which may partly explain this.

Suhrke claims that the idea of human security has roots in the central principle of international humanitarian law which sought to civilize warfare and reduce suffering of individuals during armed conflict. She further claims that one important problem with the UNDP 1994 was its attempt to describe the relationship between human security and human development, which lacked differentiation. The report presented human security both as an end-state of affairs and as a process. Human security was seen as vital for human development; if there was no security and stability in daily life, there could be no development (i.e. security as part of the process). However the contrary was also true, insofar as any long term development that betters economic and social life

³⁶ Security Dialogue, 2010. Tschirgi, Mancini and Lund, 2010. Lars, Jensen and Stepputat, 2007. Duffield, 2001 and more.

³⁷ Suhrke, 2007/1999: 128-129.

would eventually provide greater human security for the individual (i.e. security as part of an end-state). ³⁸ However, these distinctions may be less important in practice than the question of whether development work can be and is specifically directed towards vulnerabilities in relation to conflict, which on any showing are central to the human security challenge. Critics have recently argued that development projects and programmes aren't designed to be responsive towards a conflict sensitive climate, ³⁹ and later in the event of conflict, some development-focused actors may be quick to leave and then late in re-entering for post-conflict reconstruction. If the human security concept as such has not managed to solve this mismatch of agendas, perhaps partly because of its own roots in (conflict-related) international humanitarian law, one can see why policymakers might try to solve the security/development nexus in other and perhaps more direct ways.

In sum, what this short survey on human security tells us is that its impact has been wide and powerful in one sense, and has arguably led to a self-referential stagnation ⁴⁰ and stereotyping in another. The number of programmes, commissions, reports and initiatives based on human security and its increasingly wide recognition, as seen in shifts in attitude among real-world actors, witness to the concept's influence. The story of fields of action that have developed out of the foundation of human security suggests that the concept seems to have maintained its relevance in some specific discourses, while being left behind in others. To illustrate this range, one may mention issues such as human security and the environment, ⁴¹ human security and conflict, and food security. ⁴² It is also possible to see the effects of human security through specific projects like abolition of anti-personnel landmines and control of small arms, ⁴³ albeit these are more often placed within the older discourse of international humanitarian law.

2.1.1. Security within States and International Bodies

Human security's influence does not end here as the concept has been endorsed by states and other leading international bodies. That being the case, it seems only fair to the human security school of thought to briefly mention this manifestation.

19

³⁸ Suhrke, 2007/1999: 129.

³⁹ Irin: Humanitarian news and analysis. 2009, November 10th.

⁴⁰ Burgess and Owen, 2004.

⁴¹ Matthew, 2010: 56.

⁴² Devereux and Maxwell, 2001.

⁴³ Hampson, 2008: 230.

Canada and Norway are among the most prominent states to have adopted a human security stance within their policy agenda. Their adoption of the doctrine is based on a set of values informing foreign policy and state interests. ⁴⁴ In defining their goals the nations have used human security as an umbrella term to incorporate the humanitarian agenda by associating the term with underlying values of the 1990s such as international humanitarian law, human rights and socio-economic development based on equity. ⁴⁵

A common *European Security Strategy* (ESS) providing a framework for the security policies and strategic identity of the European Union (EU) was adopted by EU leaders at the European Council in December 2003. The policy document specifies the security challenges at hand and how Europeans can meet them, but more importantly it was the first joint European security strategy. ⁴⁶ The strategy did not include the concept of human security but it did incorporate many of the ideas associated with human security, e.g. a broader view of security threats, vulnerability of civilians, security being a precondition of development, and the importance of conflict and threat prevention. ⁴⁷

The European Union has therefore not implemented a specific human security policy, but has declared its intent to work towards building human security, by promoting good governance and human rights, by reducing poverty and inequality, assisting development and addressing the root causes of conflict and insecurity. As Many different reports to date, written for the EU by advisory groups of experts, have stressed the advantages of applying human security as a main security framework within European security policy. They have also underlined the appropriateness of the concept for the EU as it is said to be the best common descriptive denominator for the work within the Union today 495051.

The African Union has a somewhat similarly indirect relationship with human security as the European Union. Thomas Kwasi Tieku, an adjunct professor at the University of Toronto and a PhD candidate, claims in his article "African Union promotion of human security in Africa" that human security

⁴⁵ Suhrke, 2007/1999: 125.

⁴⁴ Hudson, 2005: 164.

⁴⁶ Council of the European Union. 2003.

⁴⁷ Ibid: 2.

⁴⁸ Ibid.

⁴⁹ Study Group on Europe's Security Capabilities, 2004

⁵⁰ Human Security Study Group, 2007.

⁵¹ Saaf and Aliboni, 2010.

concerns informed the formation of the African Union (AU). Furthermore he asserts that almost all decisions, protocols and declarations adopted since the formation of the AU have had strong human security undertones. Tieku contends that the AU Commission is now engaged in the difficult task of trying to persuade a great number of actors in the African ruling elite and civil society to accept human security as the only security strategy.⁵²

Both the European Union and the African Union seem to be facing a dilemma as to whether or not the human security concept provides the best denominator and an adequate guide for their members' common security policy agenda. The jury is out for the time being; but future developments on the role of human security in these contexts will undoubtedly be interesting.

To conclude the discussion on different manifestations of human security, introducing Iceland's stand on the issue seems an appropriate choice. A human security doctrine has not been adopted in Iceland's general domestic or foreign policy. International statements regarding Iceland's stand on the concept have however been made. The former Minister for Foreign Affairs; Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir, has amongst others, expressed the importance of human security. During a meeting for the Association for Western Co-operation in Reykjavík on November 27th of 2007, Gísladóttir may be seen as having offered Iceland's own interpretation of the concept. She states that the disputed 'out-of-area' missions of NATO must rest on a sound foundation of international law; which provide for the pre-eminence of human security. She further notes that;

a rigorous assessment also needs to be made of the Alliance's capacity to intervene in courses of events and bring them to a successful conclusion – with primary emphasis on human security, i.e. the fate of civilians, families and children.⁵³

This statement confirms the view that human security revolves around the importance of the individual within conflict/war and international interventions. Gísladóttir concluded her discussion by stating that the concept is new within international law and that Iceland has given it special attention as well as promoting it internationally.⁵⁴ This meeting took place a year before the Security

⁵² Tieku, 2007: 27.

⁵³ Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2007a.

⁵⁴ Ibid

Council elections, but no assumptions will be made here as to whether this statement may have been related to Iceland's candidacy in the elections.

Another example of Iceland acknowledging the concept of human security can be found in the above mentioned *Risk Assessment Report*. The report introduces the concept as referring to the security of individuals rather than states, and further notes that there is no agreement on whether it only applies to political violence or also economical and social factors. The recent developments within the security paradigm within the Nordic countries, other European countries and the United States are said to have affected the decision to adopt a broader definition of security as a basis for the report.⁵⁵

When looking back at the human security concept's original message of providing security in people's daily lives one may wonder why it is that some issues have gained more general acceptance as a security issue, while others have not. There are doubtless numerous explanations - including practical and accidental ones - for this development. A partial explanation may have already been mentioned earlier, regarding difficulty in gaining a consensus on the definition of the concept. It may be interesting to also look towards theory in an effort to find more answers.

2.2 Human Security among Other Theories

Human security is not a theory, but is certainly supported by other social theories. Looking at it from a theoretical standpoint may thus help in understanding how it can best be used to formulate policies to be applied in real-life circumstances. Where does it fit in with other theoretical approaches, and can other theories within International Relations help explain the concept's benefits and limitations? Despite the broad scope the concept offers for possible analytical analysis, but only a few theories relevant to the focus of this thesis will be addressed here.

Theories of realism were situated at the centre of International Relations during the Cold War, and thus it is only logical to begin the theoretical discussion by addressing how human security came to challenge this tradition. Although there are significant differences among variants of realism, most share the belief that a state's behaviour is driven in pursuit of its own national interests, defined in

⁵⁵ Utanríkisráðuneytið, 2009a: 11.

terms of power and a general distrust of long-term alliance and cooperation. States can only rely on themselves under this condition of anarchy and the most important concern for each state is therefore to manage its own insecurity.⁵⁶ Because the realist paradigm bestows upon states a pre-given ontological status, they are naturally treated as the only referents of security.⁵⁷ Thus war or other forms of conquest, which translate to the most important threat to the individual within the state, is first and foremost a threat to the state itself.

Because human security is thought to have challenged this statist view, it may seem to imply that human security does not share any basic ideas in common with realism. That is however not the case, as rejecting all realist considerations would make human security policies extremely difficult to implement. As Edward Newman, a doctor in International Relations points out, human security is not in conflict with state sovereignty, since after all states are still the main providers of security in ideal circumstances.⁵⁸

Furthermore, Newman argues that human security is not a coherent school of thought but has instead competing elements which reflect different cultural and geostrategic orientations. He introduces these competing elements by dividing the general discourse on human security into four groups; basic human needs, interventionist, developmental focus and new security. The basic human needs approach is essentially based on the ideas promoted in the 1994 UNDP Report, where human security is people-centred and a universal concern and human needs are best protected with early prevention. The interventionist approach holds that the traditionally conceived security of the state does not necessarily ensure security of its citizens and may therefore justify international actions taken against sovereign states in cases where they neglect or directly attack their own peoples.⁵⁹ The developmentalism and social welfare approach asserts the importance of taking into account the extreme diversity that is found in the world and supports local ownership of development. According to this stance, an attempt should be made to regulate the uneven and volatile effects of globalization to allow such local development strategies to succeed. The fourth and final group of issues, formulated for example in the New Security agenda or as Newman describes it,

-

⁵⁶ Mingst, 2004: 66.

⁵⁷ Nuruzzman, 2006: 294.

⁵⁸ Newman, 2001: 240.

⁵⁹ An idea perhaps most familiar when expressed in the language of Responsibility to Protect, R2P.

addressing the challenges of 'non-traditional' security and 'uncivil society', covers diverse dimensions of security such as health, drugs, terrorism, small arms, inhumane weapons, cyber-war and human trafficking. It recognizes that the same forces that allow market growth and free movement of goods also allow this negative type of transnational interaction.

According to Newman, analysis of the four groups and their prescriptions shows that the solutions proposed in the name of human security to these varied problems can be contradictory. The context of these problems is often to be found in weak state institutions and therefore the solution seems to lie in strengthening state capacity. This can however, as Newman points out, be in contrast to the basic needs approach and the social/development model, where the emphasis is put on the individual. The same can be said for the interventionist model, where any international action could be deemed controversial not just in terms of traditional sovereignty principles, but also in terms of whether local humans' lives (and their rights of 'ownership') experience a net benefit or not.⁶⁰

One obvious and important finding from the above is that variants of human security are complex and can be contradictory both in their conceptual affiliations and their prescriptions. Clearly, the matter deserves further research and continuing debate.

2.2.1. Constructivism and Securitization

One of the theories which is believed to have influenced the human security approach is constructivism, which has since the late 1980s and 1990s become one of the major schools of thought within International Relations. One constructivist element in particular which is said to have influenced human security is that the theory supported a shift away from identifying the state with security. What is important to note, is that like realism, constructivism is not a single unified movement. The fundamental argument within constructivism is that behaviour, interests and relationships are socially constructed and therefore capable of changing. As the constructivist Alexander Wendt famously put it in 1992;

⁶⁰ Newman, 2001.

⁶¹ Dannreuther, 2007: 41.

⁶² Newman, 2001: 247.

"Anarchy is what States Make of it" arguing specifically that the notion and nature of threats are constructed rather than inevitable and natural.

The broad movement of constructivism has been a useful framework for understanding the rise of human security as a force of ideology. It has for instance opened the way to the widespread realization, also crucial for human security, that conflict within states has an impact on the international system that leads to a disruption of political and economic interaction and thereby threatens everyone's security. Another example can be seen in specific values and norms being effectively shared as a minimum standard of cooperation.⁶⁴

This short introduction on constructivist theory leads us to another related school of thought, that of 'securitization'. This concept as developed by the thinkers of the 'Copenhagen School' is largely a constructivist approach, sharing also a strong link to the real-world evolution of a wider post-Cold War security agenda. 65 One of the main theorists behind the concept of securitization is Ole Wæver, who adapted the theory drawn from linguistic philosophy. He argues that securitization may be defined as a process where an actor declares a specific dynamic, actor or issue to be an 'existential threat' to a particular referent object. If this is accepted by the relevant audience, it enables the suspension of normal politics and emergency measures which are used to respond to that perceived crisis. Security understood this way, is a site of negotiation between speakers and audiences, despite one being significantly conditioned by the extent to which the speaker enjoys a position of authority within a particular group⁶⁶.

The key idea of securitization is that by giving the name of a security to a challenge not included in the narrower traditional definition, one presents it as a possible threat, thereby making it more important. By labelling something as a security concern one is constructing an added meaning. Under securitization theory 'desecuritization' is also possible, i.e. an attempt to sideline an apparent security issue or classify it as something else.⁶⁷

Another noteworthy aspect of the theory is the recognition that the final outcome is always a negotiation between the speaker and the audience, where the negotiation between the two is also a process of exercising or establishing

⁶³ Wendt, 1992.

⁶⁴ Newman, 2001: 247.

⁶⁵ Dannreuther, 2007: 42.

⁶⁶ Wæver, 2007/1995: 72-73.

⁶⁷ Ibid.

legitimacy. Seen through the securitization lens, one may argue that development thinkers who propounded the idea of human security may have – consciously or not – been undertaking exactly such a process. Thus Roland Dannreuther, a professor at the University of Westminister has argued that the UNDP's promotion of human security can be seen as an inspired political attempt to broaden the concept of security. The attempt as he puts it was carried out in a new less threatening post-Cold War period, where attention could be drawn to the profound insecurities of the poor and the powerless by contrasting them with the insignificant concerns of the powerful and wealthy.⁶⁸

Against this background the human security concept can be seen as an attempt to convert longer-standing ideas of development and humanitarianism into specific security priorities. The ultimate purpose of securitizing is to bring a hierarchical change in policy making. The act of securitization is however not necessarily a simple deed. The audience needs to agree with the speaker, the one who performs the act of securitization, for without this agreement there can be no securitization. In order for the speaker to be able to securitize an issue, he will also need to possess capabilities and means to persuade, and – logically and ideally – to follow through the new realization with resource application and action.

Considering the theory of securitization, the earlier question as to why some dimensions of human security have been accepted and recognised as important aspects of people's security, comes to mind. Possible reasons for this may be that these aforementioned aspects are in fact considered to be of greater importance than others; they are rightfully more accepted as security concerns by the audience. A different explanation which is based on greater means and capabilities of the speaker in question to securitize an issue can also go some way in explaining this difference.

One popular criticism of human security states that the concept is too broad and vague and thus analytically uninteresting to some scholars.⁶⁹ Rita Floyd, a British academic, would disagree with this assertion. She has stated that human security may be inadequate in regards to analytical utility but has instead much to offer in terms of normative utility. She uses the theory of securitization to

⁶⁸ Dannreuther, 2007: 47.

⁶⁹ Matthew, 2010: 56-57.

prove her case, arguing that an act of securitization includes three steps: (1) identification of existential threats, (2) emergency action, (3) and effects on interunit relations by the breakdown of earlier rules. Floyd argues that human security has achieved only the first step, also know as the securitizing move, and that proponents of human security are only interested in this first step of identifying existential threats to individuals and/or groups. Furthermore, the act of securitization is not necessarily a top-down one nor an act of security analysis, so that the same individuals can be both securitizing actors and referent objects of security (as demandeurs). Equally, a voice may be given to those that lack one, if a speaker with means and capabilities performs an act of securitization on behalf of that individual or group. Floyd claims that the securitization tool is useful to detect securitizing moves and their initiators within human security literature; i.e. who does what and to what effect. 70 Furthermore Floyd states that successful securitizations in relation to human security have already taken place, among them being the establishment of the International Criminal Court (ICC) and the high-profile ban on land mines in the Ottawa Convention of 1997.⁷¹

What this prior discussion confirms is that the concept of human security has demanded a shift in thinking on security priorities and by doing so produced significant new perspectives on most security issues. Its wide and innovative impact will undoubtedly continue, but to what extent and in what way is yet to be seen. It is equally important to the understanding of the concept to recognize not only its merits but also importantly, the criticisms that may be made of it. Feminist theories are among those that have been helpful at pointing out the limitations of human security.

2.2.2. Feminism and Gender

Feminist scholars are among those theorists that have greatly influenced the international security paradigm. As feminism is not a singular theory, 72 but a collection of perspectives, theorists have both praised and criticised human security. Not only have feminists added differing perspectives bringing important insights to human security, but the human security concept has also been

⁷⁰ Floyd, 2007: 41-42.

⁷¹ Ibid: 44.

⁷² Hudson, 2005: 158.

influenced by feminist theories in some respects, and there are important foundational similarities between the two.

Feminist theories and human security both arose from deep dissatisfaction with the realist security paradigm and its narrow interpretation of states as the only referents of security. Feminists as well as other theorists as early as the 1980s highlighted the necessity to consider individuals as the fundamental referents of security. Another very important common feature is the interpretation of security. Feminist scholars view security not only as being an absence of political, social and economic threats, but also as the enjoyment of social and economic justice that aspires to making human fulfilment achievable. The new reasoning that drew worldwide attention to the 1994 UNDP Human Development Report may be attributed to precisely the same ideas: that is, it emphasized individuals as the fundamental referents of security as opposed to states, and it focused on non-military sources of insecurity that both threatened individuals and undermined state structures in the long run. Therefore it is clear that 'human security' was not the first attempt to present such ideas but rather, the first successful holistic approach to catch the attention of a wider audience.

Heidi Hudson in her article "Doing Security as Though Humans Matter" states that a feminist perspective can make security discourse more reflective of its own normative assumptions and political relevance. When using a feminist outlook, the danger of masking differences by using the term 'human' can be highlighted. The reality, different groups of people and individuals have extremely differing security needs. When constructing a concept that is supposed to refer to all humans, it may prove difficult not to discriminate and to include all possible aspects.

Feminists have claimed that gender is an important tool for analysing human security.⁷⁷ What is meant by gender? Gender as a key concept on the international agenda emerged in the previously mentioned 1994 UNDP report. The concept refers to norms, rules, practices and customs by which biological differences between females and males are interpreted into socially constructed differences. This results in the two genders being valued differently and given

-

⁷³ Nuruzzman, 2006: 298.

⁷⁴ Ibid.

⁷⁵ Ibid: 285.

⁷⁶ Hudson, 2005: 155.

⁷⁷ Hoogensen and Stuvøy, 2006, Hudson, 2005, Moussa, 2008, Stern and Öjendal, 2010.

unequal opportunities in life.⁷⁸ Gender therefore tells us more than what it is to be a man or woman, but additionally about the manipulation and construction of identities and how they relate to power. Gender as one of the primary identities people have, is not static or fixed, but in a state of constant change.⁷⁹ Gender can therefore be a subjective perspective which does not assume one view of the world.

By using the construct of gender, feminists have in the past been active in drawing attention to different types of relationships in terms of power. Hoogensen and Stuvøy have used this informative aspect of gender in relation to human security. They warn that human security within foreign policy can contain underlying ideas of the dominance of the global North, 80 notably when human security is used in terms of we the 'secure' will help you the 'insecure'. The problem here is that former elite-driven articulations of security from national governments and international organizations have often not addressed the real security needs of people, either in the South or the North. Gender analysis has helped highlight this failing in such cases as e.g. gender domestic violence or violence against indigenous peoples within 'safe' states. 81

A combined usage of gender and the theory of securitization can thus bring a deeper understanding of the implications of applying human security to real-life issues, and also provides a warning against assuming the results must always be positive. By utilizing gender as a window into power relations, feminists would caution that the speaker who performs the act of securitization may not always be the rightful one. Similarly the audience that legitimizes the securitization may also be illegitimate. This issue of power dynamics is important for institutions, governments and agencies when deciding whether to implement policies that are based on human security. They should consider whether human security risks becoming a high-sounding slogan for a meaningless or damaging policy, or whether it will bring policy closer to a correct realization that insecurity exists in all spaces and times and the only proper solutions involve mutual learning and cooperation.

⁷⁸ Moussa, 2008: 82-83.

Hoogensen and Stuvøy, 2006: 218.

⁸⁰ Ibid: 209.

⁸¹ Ibid.

A related point is also highlighted by Heidi Hudson in her work cited above. She states that even though human security sets out to portray the interconnectedness of security, with security in one area depending on the security of people elsewhere, cases like the development of homeland security measures after 9/11 show that a person's security can depend on and be maintained by the cost of the insecurity of another. She therefore brings forth the question of whether the 1994 UNDP report message was truly universal or only represented Eurocentric values in disguise.82

Coming back to the concept of gender, it is important to note that it is not only about women. When using the construct of gender to challenge our understanding of women's security, it is possible to transform and generate new ideas concerning the security of men.⁸³ The same can be said for expressing the varied power relationships and security needs between women themselves. The inequality or differential agency amongst women when it comes to projecting their identity and security needs has been criticised by the Indian feminist Chandra Mohanty. She has drawn attention to how western feminists have often treated Third World women as a uniformly oppressed group.⁸⁴ Discrimination. unintended or not, can thus be found in all dimensions and aspects of both theory and policy. J. Ann Tickner, a feminist international relations theorist, agrees with this criticism but also warns that if women are not able to speak for other women, feminism will become paralyzed, thereby reinforcing the legitimacy of men's knowledge as universal.85

This warning by Tickner relates back to the act of securitization and the enabling capacity of human security in giving a voice to those who have none. It would seem desirable not to miss out on using this possibility to promote both human security in general and the special interests within it of women who have less of a voice of their own; but feminists might warn that this approach would need to be taken with caution and with the consent of those in question.

Having discussed the importance of critically viewing human security, before trying to formulate or implement policies based on the phenomenon, it is interesting to wonder whether or not human security policies can or will ever

⁸² Hudson, 2005: 165-166

⁸³ Ibid: 156.

⁸⁴ Mohanty, 1991: 53. 85 Tickner, 2001: 136.

incorporate all aspects of human insecurities including those pertaining to women. Without trying to portray women as only victims, as indeed they are not, - and feminists amongst others have been diligent in emphasising precisely their active agency and capabilities, - the fact remains that women have different security needs and agenda than men. This can be seen in numerous examples which will be brought to light in a later discussion; but this chapter will end with a brief illustration of how this security difference is manifested.

2.3. Why Women's Security?

What has been identified as the most pervasive threat to women's security is gender based violence in all its various forms. ⁸⁶ This point of view has also been highlighted by the United Nations Fund for Women (UNIFEM), which has declared that the fundamental issue in the continuing scale of violence against women lies in gender inequality. This is in turn paramount to their (in)security, which is then tied to global security. ⁸⁷ It therefore comes as no surprise when gender-equality is declared a pre-condition for human security. ⁸⁸ It is also an extremely wide- reaching problem, common to all countries and societies on earth. True, much the same can be said for poverty, as well as other threats to security. But what makes the gender aspects of insecurity extremely difficult and challenging for international institutions and governmental intervention is that the violence and oppression concerned often takes place within the sphere of the home, a space which is often considered the individual's sovereign sphere. An interesting fact regarding the above discussion on conflict and security is that this type of violence towards women is often exacerbated during and after conflict. ⁸⁹

Violence against women remains one of the most serious insecurities humans face, but what is interesting in the present context is to consider how the human security school of thought can address this issue of insecurity, and whether it is actually likely do so. Feminists have warned that to understand security issues facing women, the focus needs to be extended to include their specific gender-conditioned issues as well. If the term 'human' is used, there is always a danger of concealing the gendered basis of security practices, as previously mentioned. The underlying problem is that while the term 'human' in international discourse has

⁸⁶ Vlachova, Marie and Lea Biason, 2005.

⁸⁷ UNIFEM, 2003.

⁸⁸ Newman, 2001: 247.

⁸⁹ Sirleaf, 2002: 14.

been presented as gender-neutral, it is in fact very often an articulation of the masculine. 90

2.4. Conclusion

The history of human security as well as theoretical analysis attests to the concept's far-reaching impact. It also underlines its many and various problems, in particular that of definition. What is important to establish for the following discussion is that human security needs are varied, complex and often interconnected. The difference in detailed issues and requirements lies not only between the genders but also within each gender. How are these security needs reflected? The next chapter deals with insecurities of women within developing countries, providing real-life examples in order to shed light on the real obstacles to framing a practical human security agenda.

⁹⁰ Hudson, 2005: 157.

3. Women's Human Security

Focusing on the position of women within development cooperation is currently considered an accepted norm. This acceptance can be traced back to a changed mindset in the past twenty-thirty years, where the spotlight has been directed towards the unequal position of women throughout the world as well as within developing countries. Despite considerable progress on many aspects of women's rights and empowerment through, inter alia, the 1948 UN *Universal declaration of human rights*, ⁹¹ the 1975-1985 UN Decade for Women, ⁹² and the 1979 *Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against Women* (CEDAW) ⁹³ - plus numerous world conferences on women, most importantly 1995 The Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing and notably the *Adoption of the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action*, ⁹⁴ the establishment of the *Millennium Development Goals* (MDGs) ⁹⁵ and much more - there still persists deep inequality and discrimination against women in all regions and spheres of the world.

The challenges facing women in developing countries remain truly profound, for here come together many different types of problems which are inextricably linked and often related to extreme poverty. Africa has not failed to realize this, as the continent's engagement to the cause is made visible in the African Union Assembly's decision to declare 2010-2020 the African Women's Decade. ⁹⁶ The year 2010 also marks the six-year anniversary of the adoption of the *Solemn declaration on gender equality in Africa* (SDGEA). ⁹⁷

In an effort to highlight some of these difficulties and how they are seen in practice, the following section will report on different insecurities facing women. To simplify this complex task, the seven categories of insecurities identified in the aforementioned and somewhat criticised 1994 UNDP definition of human security will be used to give a non-exhaustive impression of the problems at hand. The

⁹¹ Moussa, 2008: 82.

⁹² United Nations, 2010.

⁹³ WEDO, 2008: 17.

⁹⁴ UNESCO, 1995.

⁹⁵ United Nations, 2008.

⁹⁶ Wandia, 2009.

⁹⁷ African Union, 2007.

UNDP approach aimed to treat these seven spheres of human security in an equal manner to avoid the trap of securitizing some areas while desecuritizing others. Some of the categories included are more often linked to development, like those of economic, health and food security, while others like the security of persons and to some extent of the community and the environment have more often been linked to mainstream security discourse.

As the following summary is meant to address different insecurities facing women, there is an ever-present risk of generalisations that lead to excessive doom and gloom and to women only being portrayed as victims. This is obviously not the case and the present author believes that such exaggerations all too often characterize the portrayal of the situation of women within Sub-Saharan Africa. The need for a balanced portrayal cannot be further pursued here but is of vital importance.

Concrete examples and statistical data will be used below to illuminate the issues, with some information applying in general to women around the world, other information applying to women in developing countries and yet other examples to Sub-Saharan Africa. Where the cited information on women within developing countries provides a wider sample than Sub-Saharan Africa it should be understood accordingly.

3.1. Economic Security

The 1994 UNDP Report provides short summaries on what features each category of human security is supposed to incorporate. The summary on economic security starts in the following words: "economic security requires an assured basic income-usually from productive and remunerative work, or in the last resort from some publicly financed safety net". 98 The summary also goes on to mention access to land, access to credit, income security, social security and homelessness. 99

Looking at economic security and stability is interesting in the light of recent developments in the world. To what extent the economic crash will affect the worlds poorest is yet to be seen, but importantly women occupy 70 per cent of that group. In general terms the trend of declining economic and social conditions

-

⁹⁸ UNDP, 1994: 25.

⁹⁹ Ibid: 25-26.

for women relative to men's has been referred to as the feminization of poverty.¹⁰⁰ The sad truth respectively about the latest economic crisis is, as the UN has observed, that it is affecting all countries in Sub-Saharan Africa irrespective of their economic performance.¹⁰¹

Today it is considered an accepted truth that significant development gains can be acquired through ensuring women's equitable access to and control over financial and economic resources. ¹⁰² Public statements underline this view, like that of Ngozi Okonio-Iweala, a managing director at the World Bank and a former Foreign Affairs Minister of Nigeria, when she argued that investing in girls is smarter economics, for it means investing at the centre of development. ¹⁰³ The present economic crisis is a driving force behind many development choices currently being made as well as possibly shaping approaches to development in the future. As women are considered the most negatively impacted by the crisis, but at the same time are seen as key development players in most communities around the world, these future policies must not overlook the gender dimension. Indeed, whether questions of women, gender equality and women's rights are included or not should arguably be taken as an indicator of the seriousness of proposed responses. ¹⁰⁴ If policymakers do not address such aspects, it has been claimed that this could become the world's first fully feminised recession. ¹⁰⁵

Both women and men from low-income households can be disadvantaged by lack of education, skills, networks and assets in their quest for a better a life. What makes this situation even more difficult for women is that gender often intensifies the effects of other social inequalities by limiting access to opportunities and resources.¹⁰⁶

Income security is of extreme importance for men and women. This type of security is even more interesting when considering how it can affect the next generation. Research has shown that women reinvest 90 per cent of their income in their families and communities, compared to men who reinvest only 30 to 40 per cent of their income. This fact becomes even more serious in relation to

¹⁰² United Nations, 2009: iii.

¹⁰⁰ Dennis and Zuckerman, 2006: 1

¹⁰¹ Tsikata, 2009: 5.

¹⁰³ Plan International, 2009: 28.

¹⁰⁴ Tsikata, 2009: 2.

¹⁰⁵ Plan International, 2009: 28.

¹⁰⁶ United Nations, 2009: 6.

¹⁰⁷ OECD, 2008: 3.

employment security, where UNIFEM claims that eight out of ten women workers in Sub-Saharan Africa are considered to be in vulnerable employment. 108

Women shoulder a great deal of the burden at the household level where their work is often on an unpaid basis. Most general care work in relation to the young, the old and the sick is carried out by women. Strong state infrastructure and technologies that could contribute to reducing this burden of work placed on women are often lacking in the developing countries. Besides women providing the care role, they also may spend considerable time on food preparation, food production, collection of water and wood, crop cultivation, income-generation, home gardening and livestock care.¹⁰⁹

Women in many parts of the world continue to be discriminated against in relation to access to housing, property and land. This claim of substantial gender inequality is based on a number of studies and small-scale surveys from around the world, although relatively few countries have comprehensive data on the exact extent of inequality. Different factors underpin this inequality, including unequal inheritance practices, gender-biased land reform - including the practice of registering land and houses in the name of the 'head of household' (most often a man) - and unequal access to land markets due to custom, tradition and unequal economic assets. Despite some progress in legislative reform, implementation is hindered by women's lack of knowledge of their entitlements and by sociocultural norms.

Inequality in property rights contributes to women's vulnerability to poverty compared with men. Development-related problems across the world including poverty, migration, violence, migration and HIV/AIDS have been increasingly linked to women's lack of property. The consequences of lack of property ownership can have especially grave consequences in some countries in Sub-Saharan Africa where women farm independently of men. They normally acquire access to land through their husband, so that a husband's death may often mean the loss of land, house and tools to the husband's relatives. The importance of this factor in relation to women within Sub-Saharan Africa is

¹⁰⁸ UNIFEM, 2009.

¹⁰⁹ United Nations, 2009: 9.

¹¹⁰ Ibid: 42.

¹¹¹ UN Millenium Project, 2005a: 75.

¹¹² United Nations, 2009: viii.

¹¹³ UN Millenium Project, 2005a: 75.

¹¹⁴ Ibid: 77.

emphasized by the fact that the agricultural sector makes up more than 60 per cent of all female employment. Calculations have shown that agricultural productivity in Sub-Saharan Africa could increase up to 20 per cent if women's access to resources such as land, seed and fertilizer were equal to that of men.

Women's access to formal financial services remains limited in the developing countries. Problems in their access to formal financial services and therefore to credit can partly be explained by the fact that only less than half the population of the developing countries owns a bank account or its equivalent. This fact obviously affects both women and men, but research has shown that access to formal financial institutions in Kenya and Uganda was strongly associated with education, gender and government employment. Another factor likely to have hindered women's access to financial services is the commercial banking sector's preference for well tried and tested borrowers and its focus on short-term lending. This arrangement has been shown to lead to a reduction of credit for small-farm and off-farm enterprises where poor and rural sections of the population were largely bypassed by formal credit. 118

What of those factors that may affect the economic situation of women and thereby their economic security, but might not normally be deemed to belong to this category? The 1994 UNDP report does not, for example, mention education in this respect but it may still be relevant. An interesting concept of a girl's 'economic rights' is brought up in the report *Because I am a Girl: the State of the World's Girls 2009*, which argues that despite differing opinions, the definition of such rights should cover all matters that govern access to resources seen as essential for economic activities. On such a view, the right to possess and enjoy property, and adequate standards of living, social security, health, education and work are all fundamental to economic rights and thereby also vital for the empowerment of women.¹¹⁹

Education is an example of an issue which is important for the empowerment and increased security for women in general terms. Its omission under economic security in the 1994 UNDP report helps explain some of the criticism of the report's definitions, while others have questioned how a certain

¹¹⁷ United Nations, 2009: 55.

¹¹⁵ United Nations, 2009: 29.

¹¹⁶ OECD, 2008: 3.

¹¹⁸ Ibid: 56.

¹¹⁹ Plan International, 2009: 25.

issue of insecurity can be determined as belonging rightfully to one category instead of another. The UNDP report itself admits that "among these seven elements of human security are considerable links and overlaps. A threat to one element of human security is likely to travel-like an angry typhoon-to all forms of human security". 120 No wonder heads of states and policy makers have found it difficult to use human security as a base for policy formulation.

3.2. Food Security

"Food security means that all people at all times have both physical and economic access to basic food". 121 The summary of what constitutes food security is very brief in the UNDP report. It does underline however that the availability of food is not enough to ward off famines, but also the 'entitlement' to food, either through purchase or by taking advantage of a public food distribution system. It furthermore comments on problems with purchasing power and on the limited success of past schemes by governments and international agencies meant to increase food security. Interestingly it specifically recognises women's inadequate access to food, as sometimes they are the last to eat in the household. In addition the report acknowledges the connectedness between food security and employment, assets and income security. 122

These links were noted in the previous discussion on economic security and are not necessary to reiterate. What is important to stress in terms of food security is that women produce 80 per cent of food and provide 90 per cent of the water and fuel consumed by households in Africa. What seems in stark contrast to that is that women only own one per cent of land, receive seven per cent of agricultural resources and extension time, and obtain ten per cent of credit available to small-scale farmers. 123

Another point that links food to health security is the biological need of women for proper nutrition. Women in their twenties and thirties in developing countries are pregnant on average for five years and lactating for ten years. This results in a significant increase of their nutritional requirements and can be seen as a physiological burden. Undernourishment of many women in childhood has resulted in them becoming short in stature when they mature. These women are

¹²⁰ UNDP, 1994: 33.

¹²¹ Ibid: 27.

¹²³ UN Millenium Project, 2005b: 93.

more likely to give birth to a baby of low birth weight. Furthermore, iodine deficiency and nutritional anaemia among women are linked to high rates of prenatal mortality and foetal loss. Yet another noteworthy risk factor is high risk of maternal death.¹²⁴

3.3. Health Security

Health security in the 1994 report is connected to diseases, maternal mortality, health insurance, and spread of HIV/AIDS. The report also highlights that threat to health security is usually greater for those who are poor. 125

Even though men and women face many similar challenges to their health, looking specifically towards women can be justified on the existence of a meaningful difference between the genders. Some of the important health complications women in developing countries have to deal with are pregnancy, maternal mortality, spread of HIV and proper nutrition, to name just a few. Among the relevant Millennium Development Goals, ¹²⁶ even though some progress has been made in reducing the number of people living on less than one dollar a day, most of the other seven goals are off track. The fourth MDG has the most severe impact on women as it addresses the reduction in maternal mortality rate, but this goal is the farthest of all from being reached. ¹²⁷ What is also very startling is that over half a million maternal deaths occur each year and 99 per cent of these largely preventable deaths happen in developing countries. ¹²⁸ What these staggering numbers show is that pregnancy is not always a joyful event but can be a source of insecurity and fear for one's life.

Another important health issue is the steady increase of HIV. Recent estimates show that the proportion of women to men living with HIV has increased from 45 per cent to 50 per cent in the years between 1990 and 2007. Indeed, in Sub-Saharan Africa, this pandemic can be said to have become feminized, as the number of adult women living with HIV/AIDS has increased from 54 per cent to 60 per cent in the same years. What is of exceptional

¹²⁵ UNDP, 1994: 27-28.

¹²⁴ Young, 2001: 233.

<sup>MDGs: (1) eradicate extreme poverty and hunger; (2) achieve universal primary education; (3) promote gender equality and empower women; (4) reduce child mortality;
(5) improve maternal health; (6) combat HIV/AIDS, malaria, and other diseases; (7) ensure environmental sustainability; (8) develop a global partnership for development.
Goets, 2008/2009: 14.</sup>

¹²⁸ World Health Organisation, 2009b: 2.

¹²⁹ Goets, 2008/2009: 128.

concern in this high prevalence environment is the HIV prevalence among young women, who are two to three times more likely to be infected with HIV than men in the same age group. One stated reason for this is the lower proportion of young women to men with access to correct and comprehensive knowledge on HIV/AIDS. Such shortage of education stems from gender inequality. Another reason for women's vulnerability based on inequality is the stigma, discrimination and the threat of violence from intimate partners resulting from infected status. The World Health Organization (WHO) has claimed that violence is both a cause and consequence of HIV infection. 131

These are just a few examples of how gender inequality is manifested in relation to health – without even mentioning unsafe abortions, infertility, cervical cancer, mental health or other common diseases such as malaria. What the above examples do show is that many factors including social and economic ones play a role in the less fortunate position of women compared to men. Not only lack of education is important here, but also low income, limited control over critical household decisions, ¹³² and unemployment.

3.4. Environmental Security

Environmental security has in recent years received greater attention through the discourse of climate change. Alongside this escalation of interest; there has also been a rise in research attesting to alarming findings for future developments. The UNDP report divides the subject of environmental security into two aspects, as an issue within countries and as a threat to the global system. The same approach will be followed here, where environmental security within states is addressed here, leaving the issue of global threats to be briefly touched upon in chapter five.

The report starts in general terms by recognising the wide and far reaching effect of man on nature through, industrialisation, poor conservation efforts, pollution, deforestation and desertification. The results are said to include an increase in natural disasters such as droughts, floods and cyclones. In relation to the developing countries, one of the greatest environmental threats is said to be that of water shortage and quality if water. Another issue is deforestation, and in Sub-Saharan Africa alone 65 million hectares of productive land were turned into

¹³⁰ Ibid.

¹³¹ World Health Organisation, 2009a: 44.

¹³² Goets, 2008/2009: 6.

desert in the past 50 years. Land shortages and poverty are said to have driven people onto more marginal territory exposing them to a greater degree to natural hazards. 133

The report does not dig deep into describing the effects of environmental security on people, but that is precisely what is of interest here. It is now widely recognised that environmental degradation is inextricably linked to problems of poverty, hunger, gender equality and health; 134 it is therefore legitimate to enquire how environmental degradation may be/is affecting women in particular.

Unfortunately there is a scarcity of data on the impact of environmental degradation and climate change on poor women. What seems however clear, as mentioned earlier, is that women spend a great deal of time in ensuring food security by e.g. collecting water. In the case of floods, droughts, erratic rainfall or deforestation, collecting water becomes an even bigger time and energy consuming activity, especially in rural areas. It is estimated that women and children in Africa spend 40 billion hours each year in fetching and carrying water. This staggering figure is the equivalent of a year's labour for the entire workforce in France. 135 Improved access to water and energy could therefore reduce women's workloads in developing countries and increase productivity. In addition it leaves more time for income generation, political participation and leisure. 136 The same can be said for children or girls, where the time spent by them in hauling water could instead be used in education. 137

Another sad truth is that poor women are more likely to become direct victims than men, either by death or injury, as a consequence of climate change disasters. To mention just a few factors that may explain this; women are not warned, cannot leave the house alone, or cannot swim. ¹³⁸ The Women's Environment and Development Organization (WEDO) report Gender, Climate Change and Human Security, states that 55-70 per cent of deaths resulting from the tsunami in the district of Banda Aceh in Indonesia 2004 were women. In the worst affected village in Indonesia in the district of North Aceh, women made up 80 per cent of victims. Another example is the French heat-wave in 2003, where

¹³³ UNDP, 1994: 29-30.

¹³⁴ UN Millennium Project, 2005c: 2.

¹³⁵ Goets, 2008/2009: 130.

¹³⁶ United Nations, 2009: viii.

¹³⁷ Plan International, 2009: 46.

¹³⁸ WEDO, 2008: 10.

women made up 70 per cent of the extra deaths. The U.S. Hurricane Katrina is also said to have entrenched poor African-American women into deeper levels of poverty. ¹³⁹

These examples from outside Africa can provide further insight as to how climate change could affect women in the future. One further point that does derive from the developing countries is that environmental risk factors are said to account for up to one-fifth of the total burden of disease. ¹⁴⁰ It could therefore be said that the vulnerability of women in Africa to environmental change is based on their multiple roles as providers and food producers, as care givers and guardians of health, and as economic actors.

3.5. Personal Security

The fifth category of personal security as it appears in the 1994 report is the only one to incorporate specific sub-categories of insecurities, and it includes factors familiar among the "usual" threats of insecurity, namely war or conflict. As stated in chapter 2, these latter connections have received special attention both in general terms (e.g. with the 2005 UNDP report) and also in relation to women. Groundbreaking resolutions are a testament to that fact, such as the aforementioned UNSCR 1325 on Women, Peace and Security, ¹⁴¹ but also UNSCRs 1820, ¹⁴² 1888, ¹⁴³ 1889 ¹⁴⁴ adopted in order to complement and expand on 1325. Though they are a watershed in the evolution of international women's rights and peace and security issues, work on implementing these prescriptions has only just begun. It is the issue of implementation and accountability that remains the biggest challenge. Words amount to nothing if they are not converted into action.

The following are the sub-categories of personal insecurities according to the 1994 UNDP report:

- Threats from the state (physical torture)
- Threats from other states (war)
- Threats from other groups of people (ethnic tension)

¹³⁹ WEDO, 2008: 10.

¹⁴⁰ UN Millennium Project, 2005c: 3.

¹⁴¹ United Nations Security Council, 2000.

¹⁴² United Nations Security Council, 2008.

¹⁴³ United Nations Security Council, 2009a.

¹⁴⁴ United Nations Security Council, 2009b.

- Threats from individuals or gangs against other individuals or gangs (crime, street violence)
- Threats directed against women (rape, domestic violence)
- Threats directed at children based on their vulnerability and dependence (child abuse)
- Threats to self (suicide, drug use)

Other issues included in personal security but not mentioned as a specific subcategory are traffic accidents, violence in the workplace, child slavery and homelessness of children. The report includes a specific acknowledgement of the position of women, when it declares that among the worst personal threats are those facing women. Their vulnerable status is further underlined when personal insecurity is said to shadow them from cradle to grave. 145

As is apparent from the content description of personal security; this category deals with an extremely wide range of issues, grouping together all violent activity facing humans in their daily lives and/or during war/conflict. Needless to say, this category is very important in relation to women as there is no society in which women are secure and treated equally to men. In a report issued by the Geneva Centre for Democratic Control of Armed Forces (DCAF) under the title Women in an Insecure World, violence against women is defined as "any act of gender-based violence that results in, or is likely to result in, physical, sexual or psychological harm or suffering to women". 146 The report goes on to explain that gender-based violence is directed against a woman because she is a woman and examples of this include domestic violence, rape, forced prostitution, sexual exploitation, forced marriage, sexual harassment and female genital mutilation.¹⁴⁷

For the following debate it is important to touch briefly not only on insecurities facing women in their daily lives but also on issues arising during conflict. More than 3 million people have died in armed conflict since the year 1990 and as the 2005 UNDP Human Development report states; nearly all of these deaths are attributable to conflicts in the developing countries. ¹⁴⁸ The number of fatalities rises much further when all deaths occurring as a result of the

¹⁴⁵ UNDP, 1994: 30.

¹⁴⁶ Vlachova and Biason, 2005: 4.

¹⁴⁷ Ibid.

¹⁴⁸ UNDP, 2005: 151.

conflict are taken into account. To mention just one factor, when human and financial resources are diverted away from public health and other social goods an obvious repercussion is the spread of disease. Indirect consequences of this sort may remain for many years after a conflict has ended.¹⁴⁹

Domestic violence can be found in all societies, but only 45 countries in the world have legislation protecting women against such violence. While certainly important, having legislation is still not enough, as many of these laws are not regularly enforced. This applies especially to periods of conflict. An independent expert assessment titled *Women, War and Peace*, made for UNIFEM, deals with this matter amongst others. Ellen Johnson Sirleaf, current president of Liberia and co-editor and author of the assessment, states that until recently, the fact that domestic violence increased during and after conflict was generally overlooked. Many things contribute to this escalation including for example the violence male members have experienced, the availability of weapons, and the lack of basic services, jobs and shelter. 151

What this shows is that violence against women during conflict does not solely arise out of the conditions of war. It is as Sirleaf puts it, directly related to the violence that exists in women's lives during peacetime. This debate seems to indicate that when addressing such atrocities as violence against women during or after war, it may not be efficient to think in terms of isolated incidents of war, as the problem seems to partially arise from an accepted norm formulated during peacetime. If violence against women goes largely unpunished during peacetime, it is bound to escalate during war when all types of violence increases. ¹⁵²

The impact of armed conflicts on women differs greatly from one context to the next and also between individual women. Some common characteristics have however been identified, namely widespread sexual violence and an extreme burden that war places on women in their effort to ensure their own survival and that of their children and the elderly. Only recently has attention been brought to the serious consequences of sexual violence during armed conflict, the repercussions being cultural, physical, social and psychological. ¹⁵³

¹⁴⁹ Sirleaf, 2002b: 33.

¹⁵² Ibid: 10.

¹⁵⁰ Sirleaf, 2002a: 15.

¹⁵¹ Ibid: 14.

¹⁵³ Vlachova and Biason, 2005: 15.

What may add to women's suffering is their often limited ability to seek protection, support and justice. This access to redress from government entities can be hindered because of cultural and social stigma, as well as a woman's status in society. Rape survivors may be rejected by their husbands or unwed women may become unmarriageable. Even children born of sexual violence may need particular assistance and protection. The violence inflicted on women and girls during conflict does not always come from the hands of armed groups. They sometimes are left with little choice other than prostitution or to exchange sex for food, safe passage or shelter. Among those who are guilty of using women in this way are government officials, civilian authorities, aid workers and people from within the women's families.

Women are not only victims during war, but they also become combatants, provide medical help, protect and feed armed groups. Some women choose such active roles, while others are driven into them in an effort to protect themselves and their families and better their lives. An active role during conflict can then later prove problematic during the period of reintegration after warfare. Female leaders or women who have managed homes and/or communities may experience a difficult transition period when the males return. The woman's authority is weakened and all attention needs to be placed on the returning male hero, while her experience during the war has a tendency to be minimized or denied. 157

3.6. Community Security

Community security is defined as security which derives from a membership in a group. This group can be family, community, organization, a racial or an ethnic group that can provide a set of values or a cultural identity. The community security of a group can be threatened by another group, but a group can also pose a threat to an individual within. The UNDP report mentions such examples of threats within groups as the breakdown of the extended family under modernization, and oppressive practices like employing bonded labour, the harsh treatment of women and genital mutilation. A security threat from outside a group can be visualised for instance in the case of disappearing cultures and languages

¹⁵⁴ Sirleaf, 2002a: 17.

¹⁵⁵ Vlachova and Biason, 2005: 16.

¹⁵⁶ Sirleaf, 2002a: 11.

¹⁵⁷ Handrahan, 2004: 434-435.

¹⁵⁸ UNDP, 1994: 31.

through the onslaught of mass media and ethnic clashes where ethnic cleansing and rape of women can take place.¹⁵⁹

Despite having already touched upon the subject of sexual violence during conflict in the segment of personal security, is it important to note also how it relates to community security. When a community places great emphasis on ethnic purity and/or when ethnicity is inherited through the male line, this purity becomes a deliberate target during war/or conflict. As a result of this, women's bodies during war have been likened to a new battleground over which opposing forces struggle. Women's sexual and reproductive capacities have become important markers of male-defined ethnic identity. Several reasons may explain why women's bodies are exploited in this way, e.g. to humiliate husbands and/or family, to infect them with HIV/AIDS and sometimes to enforce pregnancy. The women who already are pregnant may be forced to miscarry through violent attacks. 162

Another issue of importance related to community security is the practice of female genital mutilation or cutting. It is not exclusive to one religion or social class and it is linked to a restriction of female sexuality and rites of passage into marriage or womanhood. Genital mutilation is practiced in at least twenty-eight countries, and the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF) estimates that more than 130 million girls and women are alive today who have undergone this procedure. These women are primarily situated in Africa, but also to a lesser extent in some countries in the Middle East. Moreover, each year an estimated 2 million girls are at risk of being genitally mutilated.

3.7. Political Security

The seventh and last category of human security is that of political security, which depends first and foremost on whether society honours people's basic human rights. Political security is also connected to each state's performance regarding freedom of the press, repression of individuals and groups, systematic torture and

¹⁶⁰ Sirleaf, 2002a: 10.

¹⁵⁹ UNDP, 1994: 31-32.

¹⁶¹ Handrahan, 2004: 437.

¹⁶² Sirleaf, 2002a: 10.

¹⁶³ Vlachova and Biason, 2005: 11.

¹⁶⁴ UNICEF, 2005: 1.

¹⁶⁵ Vlachova and Biason, 2005: 1.

control over ideas and information. In addition, these types of human rights violations are stated to be most frequent during periods of political unrest¹⁶⁶.

Men and women around the world suffer because of different types of state repression. Women's status in relation to political security may further be affected by their ability to participate in all levels of society. It depends among other things on gender equality legislation and on successful execution of the law and accountability.

Women's position in elections to parliament can be taken as an example. One of the targets set out in the 1995 *Beijing Platform for Action* was to reach a 30 per cent minimum of women's representation in national assemblies. Despite a great increase of women in such assemblies, from 11.6 per cent in 1995 to 18.4 per cent in May 2008, with this current rate of increase the 'parity zone' where neither sex holds more than 60 per cent of seats will not be reached by developing countries until 2045. In addition, the current rate is not expected to be sustainable unless countries establish quotas or other types of temporary measures. ¹⁶⁷ That being said, it is important to note that four countries out of the top ten with the biggest female representation in parliament are countries within Africa, Rwanda being in first place with women making up 56.3 per cent in the lower house of the senate. ¹⁶⁸

For women to have the right to vote and be eligible for office is by itself not enough to guarantee women access to political and public life as was once believed. Several things stand in women's way still today. Even if the law states that a woman can vote, that is not to say that she is necessarily able to. Many factors stand in the way of increased empowerment of women and their ability to participate in politics, including women's often lesser access to finance for their campaigns. Another problem noted by Francoise Gaspard in her article "Unfinished Battles: Political and Public Life" is that today some may still try to blame the underrepresentation of women upon women's lack of interest in politics. There are similar claims that women choose not to vote for other women, but these claims have been proven wrong by many studies. 171

1.

¹⁶⁶ UNDP, 1994: 32-33.

¹⁶⁷ Goets, 2008/2009: 21.

¹⁶⁸ Inter Parliamentary Union, 2010.

¹⁶⁹ Gaspard, 2007: 15.

¹⁷⁰ Goets, 2008/2009: 25.

Goets, 2008/2009: 25

171 Gaspard, 2007: 16.

The UK-based Fawcett Society has compiled a list of issues which may explain why political parties often fail to respond to barriers encountered by women standing for parliament. This list incorporates the "four Cs", of confidence, culture, childcare and cash. Confidence is said to derive from women's relatively late entry to apprenticeship in politics and their subsequent lack of experience. Barriers of *culture* stem from the style of political competition which is aggressive and confrontational. Childcare alludes to women's domestic responsibilities and the competing demands on the time of female candidates, and finally – as mentioned above - cash refers to the relative underinvestment in women's campaigns by political parties. ¹⁷² These issues play a significant role, but arguably there are many more answers to be found. So even though many governments may have the political will to improve matters, they may not have the capacity, the know-how and the resources to ensure that gender equality policies are followed through. As an example, while in fragile and weak states corruption and inefficiency can have a disastrous effect on both men and women, they often take a gender specific form that undermines political accountability to women in particular. 173

3. 8. Conclusion

What this survey of women's insecurities, factual data and estimates shows is that whatever human security policies may be pursued and improved in future, one thing is certain; that there can be no 'human security' without the inclusion of the gender dimension. Even such a short summary confirms that there are spheres of women's insecurity which may be hard to capture within the UNDP's seven categories of human security, like the issue of education. More generally, this raises the question of where human security ends. The 1994 definition of human security seems to embrace most aspects of human life, but at the same time omits some issues that are hard to confine within a specific category. Even so, the effort of categorization is one way to help identify such problems and it does help in gaining a deeper understanding of the situation at hand. In the same way, while theories can be helpful in understanding the world around us, there is still no

1.

¹⁷² Goets, 2008/2009: 22.

¹⁷³ Ibid: 28.

single theoretical approach that captures all the complexity of contemporary world politics. 174

Another problem with compartmentalising security issues is the search for the origins of specific insecurities. It has been noted above that many issues like e.g. health need to be mentioned in relation to other insecurities and not just in relation to the category of health security. When many different insecurities come together to make up a situation of insecurity, it may prove difficult to pinpoint one main source of insecurity. What can on the other hand be said to be common to most of the aforementioned insecurities facing women is gender inequality. So in a sense all work directed towards gender equality and women's empowerment is working towards human security as a whole. As Deputy UN Secretary-General Asha-Rose Migiro stated at the opening of the 54th Commission on the Status of Women in March 2010: "more and more people now understand that gender equality and the empowerment of women and girls is not just a goal in itself, but a key to sustainable development, economic growth, and peace and security", 175. On the same note, Ellen Johnson-Sirleaf stated that "not only women and men of today may suffer because of gender inequality, but also the next generation that follows". 176

To conclude, it remains important to assert that even though this discussion confirms that there is the need to look specifically towards women when considering security issues, it does not take away the fact that not all women are the same or have the same needs. It is also important not to forget how placing a particular emphasis on women may affect men. When using the construct of gender in policy framing, it is better to take the opportunity of looking at power relationships in all shapes and sizes than to assume *a priori* a simplistic duality in the position of men and women. Nevertheless, the fact is that in today's world security concepts and processes are often male-biased and that creates an everpresent danger of women's complex situation being sidelined or forgotten. This is what must at all cost be avoided.

¹⁷⁴ Walt, 1998: 30.

¹⁷⁵ UNFPA, 2010.

¹⁷⁶ Plan International, 2009: 28.

4. Uganda

The previous chapter presented a general view of how women's insecurities within developing countries may be categorized. The following chapter seeks to narrow down this approach and provide specific examples for the analytical model by looking at women within Uganda. Importantly, women within Uganda, or any other country for that matter, are not a uniform group: so even though the following account may offer more specific examples than before, the information revealed does not necessarily express the lived experience of all women within the country. This is not only for the simple reason that no two women's experience is alike, but more because of the country's civil war history. Some have even gone so far as to describe the conflict-ridden northern part of Uganda as being so different that it seems like a separate country. This actuality is important to keep in mind when the succeeding information is presented. The chapter will give examples based on the seven categories of human security, but each category will start by giving some brief general information on Uganda, firstly by situating the country in its broader geographical and historical context.

Uganda is a landlocked country in East Africa, and borders the Democratic Republic of Congo, Kenya, Rwanda, Sudan, and Tanzania. Uganda's economy is primarily rural, with about four-fifths living off farming. Roughly eighty-five per cent of people subsist on less than \$1 a day. It has a population of 30.6^{179} million consisting of 56^{180} recognised ethnic groups, the largest of which is Baganda, making up17 per cent of the population. Life expectancy is 52.4 years for women and 51.4 for men 182 and Uganda is ranked 157 out of 177^{183} in the United Nations Development Index.

Uganda gained independence from Britain in 1962, but for over two decades the country has suffered from a brutal civil war between the Ugandan government and the rebel Lord's Resistance Army (LRA). For the duration of the

50

¹⁷⁷ MacDonald, 2010.

¹⁷⁸ Plan International, 2009: 180.

¹⁷⁹ UNDP, 2009: 193.

¹⁸⁰ Uganda Online Law Library, 1995: 186-187.

¹⁸¹ The Fund for Peace, 2006.

¹⁸² UNDP, 2009: 183.

¹⁸³ Ibid: 145.

war, tens of thousands have been killed and two million displaced.¹⁸⁴ What has become one of the best-known features of the war is the forced recruitment and abduction by the LRA of tens of thousands of young adults and adolescents, both boys and girls.¹⁸⁵

In November 2003, the United Nations Under-Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs, Jan Egeland, claimed northern Uganda to be "the biggest forgotten, neglected humanitarian emergency in the world" 186. Following his statement the presence of international agencies increased, as well as projects aimed at providing basic services in the overcrowded government-run camps for internally displaced persons (IDPs). Nonetheless this increase of international support does not seem to have been particularly rapid or effective, for as an Oxfam briefing paper states, northern Uganda's transition period from insecurity towards relative stability was characterised by avoidable institutional confusion and weak leadership. The confusion in the government's and the UN's efforts resulted from lack of clarity as to how recovery activities were to be defined, financed, co-ordinated and implemented. At the same time, donor funding for recovery was not forthcoming, partly because the Ugandan government had for a long time been reluctant to acknowledge and respond to the humanitarian crisis in the north. Proof of this reluctance was the late launching of the Emergency Humanitarian Action Plan for the region, which only took place after the UN Security Council discussed the situation in early 2006. Furthermore the Oxfam paper notes that because of reductions in poverty and the relatively impressive national economic growth rates, the international donor community consistently commended Uganda as a success story despite the facts of conflict, displacement and marginalisation in the North. 188

Interestingly Uganda's case has been a real test for the concept of human security. The concept of human security arose out of an environment where the idea of interventionism was regarded as potentially justified. The tragedy of the Rwandan genocide can partly explain this, as it resulted in the international community being shamed for its lack of action. In the aftermath of the genocide, the idea of the *Responsibility to Protect* was born, providing – as noted above - a

¹⁸⁴ The Fund for Peace, 2006.

¹⁸⁵ Survey of War Affected Youth. 2008: 1-2.

¹⁸⁶ OXFAM International, 2008: 5.

¹⁸⁷ Ibid: 5.

¹⁸⁸ Ibid: 17.

rationale for preventing mass atrocities with all means possible including military force as a last resort. Interventionism was therefore justified under specific circumstances, but as noted earlier by Edward Newman, constitutes just one of four competing elements in the human security discourse overall.

One can wonder why during a human-security-influenced era, ideas concerning action or intervention in Uganda weren't brought to light earlier by the UN Security Council. It seems as if the international community may have been happy to praise Uganda's recent success in poverty reduction at the expense of the situation in the northern part of the country. Not everyone would agree with this critique, however. Erin Baines, a research director at the University of British Columbia, argues that it was precisely because of the evolving norm on human security that attention was finally drawn to the conflict, by highlighting the high number of child soldiers forcibly recruited into the LRA. ¹⁸⁹ In a way, both arguments hold some truth and are not necessarily contradictory.

What Uganda's case does in effect do is to disprove an otherwise logical assumption that immediate insecurities arising from war and conflict always receive more attention than other indicators of insecurities associated with development. This was not the case in Uganda's situation which was characterized by overall economic growth.

What needs to be remembered is that the international community and individual states have an obligation in terms of how they conduct themselves in relation to other states. History and even recent history of development policy and projects has shown time and time again how institutions and states can fail this duty. In this respect timing, implementation and accountability can mean everything, for as a senior UN official stated in relation to northern Uganda, "if we don't achieve certain things with the potential benefit of both humanitarian and development money in the LRA-affected North, in the coming years we won't be talking about the needs of IDP's or returnees, but the needs of a very poor population, by which time attention may have moved elsewhere". ¹⁹⁰

As for the stability of the situation within Uganda today, no concrete peace agreements have been signed, even though they were close to being finalised in April and November 2008. The most recent news of the LRA activities came

-

¹⁸⁹ Baines, 2005: 27.

¹⁹⁰ OXFAM International, 2008: 24.

towards the end of last year. During the period from 14th and 17th of December 2009, the LRA killed 321 villagers and abducted between 200-400 people, including 80 children, in the northern part of the DRC. Most of those killed in the attack were adult men. 191 Furthermore the LRA is said to have killed at least 1,800 civilians in DRC since 2008. 192

4.1. Economic Security

Chapter three outlined that women in developing countries and in Sub-Saharan Africa, work mainly within agriculture while also bearing primary responsibility for all chores that ensure social existence. The situation of the majority of women within Uganda seems to mirror this trend. Agriculture is Uganda's most important livelihood, with a almost 80 per cent of all Ugandans working in this sector. Approximately half of all produce is cultivated through subsistence farming, and women occupy 80 per cent of all those involved in agricultural production.¹⁹³ Likewise they have the primary responsibility of care giving and fulfilling most other household activities. Interestingly though, unemployment rates are similar across gender groups for the western, northern and eastern regions of Uganda. The exceptions are central Uganda and Kampala; treated as a separate region. More than half of the country's unemployed are in the central region, where women are more than twice as likely as men to be unemployed. The same goes for Kampala, the country's capital city and site of the highest unemployment rate; which is about 17 per cent higher than any other region. Women are there again twice as likely as men to be unemployed. 194

As women in Uganda rely mostly on farming as way of subsistence their access to land and credit is important to their economic security, but women have limited access to both spheres. Women in Uganda own only five per cent of land, and their tenure is highly insecure. 195 Similarly, women in Uganda only have 9 per cent of available credit, declining to one per cent in rural areas. 196

When considering the position under Ugandan law, women's position does not improve greatly. The Ugandan Land Act of 1998, Succession Act and the Domestic Relations Bill, are all attempts to protect equal rights and access to land

¹⁹¹ Morgunblaðið, 2010, March 28th.

¹⁹² Irin: Humanitarian news and analysis, 2010, March 29th.

¹⁹³ Hulda Proppé, 2003: 33.

¹⁹⁴ FESS, 2006: 34.

¹⁹⁵ Goets, 2008/2009: 40

¹⁹⁶ United Nations, 2009: 62.

and property. They have however proven inadequate as they are often overpowered by traditional and cultural practices. *The Land Act of 1998* states that before a man may sell his family land, he requires consent from his spouse and adult children. But what can weaken the position of the woman is that the law also states that consent may not be denied 'without a good reason or reasons', thus giving the man the ability to challenge any refusal¹⁹⁷ and begging the question of who defines a good reason. *The Succession Act* protects the interests of wives, children and dependent relatives in family property in the event of the owner's death without a will. What is problematic with the act is that it only protects legal wives and does not cater for cohabiting wives. The passing of the *Domestic Relations Bill*, which largely addresses the issue of domestic violence, would seek to solve the problem of the *Succession Act* by recognising parties who have cohabited for over ten years as having entered into a marriage.¹⁹⁸ This Bill, which would provide a groundbreaking legal instrument for women in many aspects, has however been shelved on numerous occasions and has yet to be signed.¹⁹⁹

To conclude the discussion on economic security, statistics on education can offer further insight on the position of women within Uganda. At the time of Uganda's independence, the country had one of the best educational systems in Sub-Saharan Africa. Education is one of the cornerstones of President Yoweri Museveni's policies with a special emphasis on Universal Primary Education (UPE)²⁰⁰. In one year alone (1996-7), primary school enrolment rates increased from 3.1 million to 5.3 million and by 2003, enrolment rates had increased to 7.6 million²⁰¹. This speedy increase in pupils has however proved troublesome in relation to availability of teachers. Another problem within the secondary education system is that too few schools exist to cater for the rapidly increasing number of primary school graduates. Likewise the few secondary schools that do exist are mostly situated in urban areas, making them inaccessible to most rural students.²⁰²

A survey conducted in northern Uganda underlines this rural disadvantage but also an existing gender gap. Nineteen per cent of women between the ages of

¹⁹⁷ Kabumbuli, Mubangizi, Kindi and Ssebuliba, 2008: 2.

¹⁹⁸ Ibid: 7.

¹⁹⁹ Ibid: 2.

²⁰⁰ Hulda Proppé, 2003: 38.

²⁰¹ FESS, 2006: 32.

²⁰² Ibid: 6.

14 and 30 were reported to have never attended school, compared to just one per cent of males the same age. Those young women who did attend primary school were more likely to drop out than young males, which results in young women in average having had only 4.9 years of schooling compared to 7.0 for young men.²⁰³ When focussing on women aged 26-30, levels of under-education and illiteracy were even more dramatic. Women that reported never having attended school were 38 per cent and only 18 per cent stated that they could read a book or a newspaper.²⁰⁴ Despite these findings, the primary school system in northern Uganda is said to be achieving high levels of enrolment and basic literacy among adolescents, both female and male.²⁰⁵

4.2. Food Security

Uganda is blessed with resources such as fertile soils, regular rainfall and deposits of copper, cobalt, fish and now recently oil. As previously mentioned, agriculture is the country's largest sector, not only employing a majority of the workforce but also accounting for approximately 90 per cent of export earnings and 23.4 per cent of the country's Gross Domestic Product (GDP). 207

Despite fertile soils, however, Ugandans are not all food-secure. An estimated 1.1 million Ugandans are food-insecure with 81 per cent of this population living in the Karamoja Region in northeaster Uganda. The remaining insecure population are in northern and eastern parts of the country. ²⁰⁸ This food shortage has been recognised by the United Nations' Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), and the number of people dependent on hand-outs in some areas has doubled amid reports of persistent crop failure and adverse effects of climate change. Percy Misika, the FAO country representative, confirms this severe situation, claiming a recent increase from 86,000 insecure households to 124,000 in the Acholi region in the north, and from 12,000 to 32,000 in Teso in the east. Listed reasons for this situation of food crisis are said to be prolonged drought, the drying up of water sources, high population growth, frequency of floods and the rules of land tenure. Additional explanatory factors are low agricultural productivity, the rise of prices by 52 per cent pertaining to agriculture,

²⁰³ Survey of War Affected Youth. 2008: 18-19.

²⁰⁴ Ibid: 19.

²⁰⁵ Ibid: 17.

²⁰⁶ United Press International. 2010, April 13th.

²⁰⁷ Dagne, 2009: 7.

²⁰⁸ USAID, 2010: 1.

and low investment in agricultural research.²⁰⁹ The conflict in the north, which also relates to the category of personal security, can partly explain the situation of low agricultural productivity. Long periods of conflict have resulted in forced displacement which has disrupted agricultural productivity in the region. This could however be changing as USAID reports have claimed that recent security improvements have allowed a number of farmers to return home and recommence cultivation.²¹⁰

The World Food Programme (WFP) states in relation to food security that social structure of Ugandan culture is likely to create a gender-poverty bias. This is because women participate less in the labour market and earn lower wages than men. An important indicator of food security is also related to who is the head of the household. Female-headed households in Uganda were on average 28 per cent of the total population. However this number gives a very inaccurate picture, as great differences exists between regions. In Karamoja, the largest food-insecure region in Uganda, female-headed households constitute a majority. Moroto district is reported to having 63 per cent of households female-headed,

Nakapiripirit district 69 per cent and Kaabong district 85 per cent, and all these belong to the Karamoja region. The World Food Programme states that this may be a reflection of the pastoralist/agropastoralist lifestyle that dominates this particular culture. If that is the case, it shows in effect that a majority of women within the region rely on agriculture and livestock for their subsistence. It also shows that women incorporate a majority of those who are food-insecure.

The issue of food security is very closely related to health security and this connection is easily visualised within Uganda. Studies have shown that the households most vulnerable to food insecurity are those that are affected by HIV/AIDS and are headed by a woman. This connection is two-way. In a study on women's landownership and food security within Uganda, 76 per cent of respondents living with HIV believed that it had an effect on their agricultural production with a reduction in spending on food and cash crops. ²¹³ Conversely, those who are food-insecure are also in danger of contracting the disease. Young girls are said to be at a particular risk in their quest for food because of the

²⁰⁹ Mukasa and Kalyango, 2009, September 24th.

²¹⁰ Dagne, 2009: 7.

²¹¹ World Food Programme, 2009: 26.

²¹² Ibid: 27

²¹³ Kabumbuli, Mubangizi, Kindi and Ssebuliba, 2008: 52.

inability to make independent and informed decisions because of male dominance. That may in turn lead them to unwanted sex in exchange for food, exposing them to HIV infection.²¹⁴

4.3. Health Security

An African saying goes; every pregnant woman has one foot in the grave. This saying rings true, as Uganda alone loses 16 women in childbirth and pregnancy daily. Surprisingly this staggering number represents progress, as in recent years maternal mortality measured against every 100.0000 live births has moved from 527 to 435 deaths per year. Amnesty International made a note of this situation within its annual report on Uganda in 2009. It quoted the findings of the UN Special Rapporteur to the effect that important health rights such as sexual and reproductive rights were not fully captured in Ugandan government policies. Regular reports on cases of maternal mortality have supported this claim. Another important point to note in this respect is that Uganda has one of the highest fertility rates in Africa with an average of seven births per woman.

Dr. Eva Nakabembe from the Association of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Uganda (AOGU) has claimed that up to 60 per cent of women dying in childbirth could be saved with basic interventions. Furthermore Dr. Olive Sentumbwe connects this state of affairs to poverty levels, training of available staff, bad roads and the ability of facilities to provide the much needed care. More importantly this can be attributed to the fact that Uganda spends just nine per cent of its national budget on health care, where maternal health is said to suffer the most. This is despite the Ugandan Government having signed the Maputo Protocol which requires all members to commit 15 per cent of their budgets to health.²¹⁸

Another serious health security matter facing women in Uganda is HIV/AIDS. The country was in the 1980s and early 1990s one of the African countries most devastated by the HIV/AIDS epidemic. However significant progress has been made in the last fifteen years with the prevalence of HIV

²¹⁴ Ibid: 11.

²¹⁵ Nabusoba, Irene. 2010, March 7th.

²¹⁶ Amnesty International, 2009.

²¹⁷ OXFAM International, 2008: 8.

²¹⁸ Nabusoba, Irene. 2010, March 7th.

dropping over 50 per cent.²¹⁹ As a result of this progress, the country has often been referred to as a model for Africa in the fight against HIV/AIDS. Different reasons are said to have contributed to this development such as strong government leadership, broad-based partnerships and effective public education campaigns. However, the HIV statistics show not only a fall in the number of new infections but also a rise in the number of AIDS-related deaths.²²⁰

Women are particularly affected by the epidemic as seen in the age class of 15-24 year olds, where for every one HIV-infected man there are four infected women. ²²¹ Of those estimated 940.000 people living with HIV in Uganda, women represent 59 per cent. A number of factors are thought to have contributed to this development, among them being Ugandan women marrying and becoming sexually active at a younger age than their male peers. ²²²

Education, as stated in chapter three, is also relevant to a higher prevalence among women; in Uganda men scored on average 35 for their knowledge on HIV while women scored only 30.²²³ Conversely, women's and girls' education may also suffer because of the spread of the disease, as a Ugandan study revealed that approximately 40 per cent of primary and secondary students linked dropping out of school to the need to look after sick relatives.²²⁴ The HIV/AIDS epidemic in Uganda needs continued attention and the country's progress so far should not detract from the gravity of the situation at hand. Furthermore it is feared that HIV prevalence in Uganda may be rising again.²²⁵

4.4. Environmental security

Uganda's natural environment has changed significantly in the past several decades. The country has undergone severe deforestation, extreme land degradation, loss of wetland and population displacement. Furthermore its soil nutrient depletion is among the highest in Sub-Saharan Africa, and Uganda's forest coverage which stood at 52 per cent about a century ago now stands at 24 per cent. The estimated rate of deforestation stands at 2.2 per cent a year. Another

²¹⁹ Dagne, 2009: 8.

²²⁰ AVERT, 2010.

²²¹ Goets, 2008/2009: 128.

²²² AVERT, 2010.

²²³ Goets, 2008/2009: 129.

²²⁴ Plan International, 2009: 28

²²⁵ AVERT, 2010.

important resource is the country's wetlands which account for 10 per cent of total land surface area. Losses of wetland have been significant; taking Jinja district as an example where 80 per cent of the wetlands have been converted to agricultural use. ²²⁶

The most recent environmental hazards Ugandan's have suffered are massive landslides in the Mount Elgon region in the eastern part of the country. The landslides were caused by heavy rains over a period of few days in the beginning of March 2010 when it is believed 250-350²²⁷ people died and hundreds of thousands were left in need of shelter, food, safe water and proper sanitation. Today the biggest danger at hand is the increased risk of the spread of water-borne disease such as cholera and typhoid. Other possible health risks are malaria, acute malnutrition and psychological disorders. Several days after the floods and mudslides took place, at least 104 people, mostly children, were reported to suffer from diarrhoea at the Bukalsi Health Centre in Bududa. ²²⁸

The landslides have had a devastating affect on the region and will continue to do so for some time to come. The outcome and effect on the genders is difficult to predict, but what seems to be a likely occurrence is that children and adults alike who suffer from diseases or injuries are likely to become the responsibility of women. Those within the region who rely on farming as a way of subsistence will also become negatively affected by the recent events. State minister for environment Jennipher Namuyangu did however claim that the rains would bring some benefits for agricultural activity. Farmers should be advised to make use of the rains and soil moisture to plant enough food which could also cater for the drought stricken areas.²²⁹

4.5. Personal security

According to Amnesty International, violence against women and girls in various forms is widespread in Uganda. The types of violence women suffer are rape, marital rape, domestic violence, forced and early marriages, and these acts are rarely treated as a criminal offence. Statistics from the 2007 Uganda Law Reform Commission confirm this prevalence as 78 per cent of women are said to

²²⁶ FESS, 2006: 6.

Monitor. 2010, April 6th.

²²⁸ AllAfrica. 2010, March 10th.

²²⁹ Mugisa, Kamahoro and Magara, 2010, March 4th.

²³⁰ Amnesty International, 2009.

experience domestic violence annually. The Ugandan Demographic and Health Survey (UDHS) from 2006 reveals that more than 60 per cent of women between the ages of 15-49 had experienced physical violence, 39 per cent experienced sexual violence and 16 per cent experienced violence during pregnancy. In addition 68 per cent of women that had been married at any given point in time had experienced domestic violence.²³¹

A number of proposed laws on issues such as domestic violence, sexual violence, domestic relations and trafficking in persons remain pending. A previously mentioned bill on domestic violence, which will bring legal protection to people in abusive relationships for the first time, has been passed by parliament, but President Yoweri Museveni has yet to give the bill assent and has been criticised for this as the cabinet approved the bill more than a year ago.²³²

Rita Aciro Lacor, the national coordinator for the Ugandan Women's Network, an umbrella organization for all womens' NGOs in the country, stated that economic dependence, culture and impunity are major causes of domestic violence. Some instances are based on the empowerment of women where men have a hard time accepting it and try therefore to control the women by bringing them down.²³³

One study in rural Uganda showed widespread acceptance of domestic violence, where 70 per cent of men and 90 per cent of women felt that beating a female partner or wife was justifiable under specific circumstances. However, these findings seem to be in stark contrast to the outcome of a different survey named "The State of Female Youth in Northern Uganda" conducted by The Survey for War Affected Youth (SWAY). The respondents were between the ages of 14 and 35 and the vast majority of the female youth, or over 70 per cent, believed that clan leaders or husbands did not have the right to beat them. Furthermore, over 80 per cent stated that their husbands did not have the right to sex on demand. In addition, younger females overall showed lower rates of acceptance of violence against females compared to their older counterparts. There is therefore hope that changed attitudes may be on the horizon. An important step for Uganda in this respect is the fact that the country is one of the

-

²³¹ Kiwawulo, Chris. 2010, April 5th.

²³² Malinga and Ford, 2010, March 18th.

²³³ Kiapi, 2009, July 17th.

²³⁴ John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. 2003, January 22nd.

²³⁵ Survey of War Affected Youth, 2008: 61.

sixteen countries to date that have adopted a national action plan for implementing UNSCR 1325, which was released in December 2008. What makes the Ugandan Action Plan unique is the fact that it incorporates provisions from all three relevant documents, UNSCR 1325, UNSCR 1820 and the Goma Declaration, a feature which aims to improve the coordination and comprehensiveness of the plan. ²³⁶

The examples of gender violence given above are a testament to the importance of the plan: while with regards to women's representation in peace processes, it may be noted that during the peace negotiations in Northern Uganda in 2007-2008 there were never more than two women out of 17 negotiators on the delegations of either the LRA or the governments.²³⁷

4.6. Community Security

In a country like Uganda which recognises 56 different ethnic groups and has different religions such as Catholicism (42 per cent), Protestantism (42 per cent), Muslim (12 per cent), to name the most prominent groups, ²³⁸ there are bound to be numerous topics of interest in the field of community security. However, as space is limited, genital mutilation, violence during conflict, forced marriage and bride price have been chosen to provide a brief summary of the topic.

The practice of female genital mutilation/cutting (FGM) is not widespread within Uganda as statistics show that one per cent of the total population are said to practise the custom. These groups which are situated in rural Uganda are the Sabiny, some Karamojong sub-groups, Pokot in eastern Uganda and Nubi people of West Nile. Recent events may result in the diminishing of the practice or possibly its disappearance altogether, and an important first step was taken by the Ugandan parliament in December 2009 when female genital mutilation was outlawed. Anyone caught performing FGM will face 10 years in prison or a life sentence if a victim dies. It is difficult however to predict whether the law will eliminate the custom completely, as a number of African nations still practice FGM despite it having been outlawed earlier.

²³⁶ Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development, 2008.

²³⁷ Goets, 2008/2009: 99.

²³⁸ The Fund for Peace, 2006.

²³⁹ Population Reference Bureau, 2008: 2.

²⁴⁰ BBC. 2009, December 10th.

²⁴¹ Boswell, 2009, December 11th.

In the section on community security in chapter three, the issue was presented as covering both protection coming from a community and the need for protection from a community. The act of rape during conflict was described as an instrumental tool used by one group against another. Uganda's case is an example where rape has been used during the civil war, but not in the same way as described in chapter three. The conflict in Uganda has been between the LRA and the Ugandan army or the Uganda People's Defence Force, not between two ethnic groups. The LRA is not drawn from or backed by a single ethnicity and lacks community support, not surprisingly given that its fighters have mostly attacked people belonging to their own ethnic group and have targeted the most vulnerable, i.e. children and women.²⁴²

The types of brutal actions that have persisted during the war include physical, sexual and mental torture, unlawful arrest and detention, sexual abuse, mutilation and disfigurement and forced cannibalism and more. A specific type of tactic used by the LRA is that the abducted are forced to attack and carry out actions against their own neighbours, families and villages. If they do not comply, the abductees can face death by torture or mutilation. The purpose of this violence is twofold, to initiate the abducted into the rebel force and destroy the link between the captive and his or her family and community. The war tactic used by the LRA is then systematically aimed at breaking down the sense of community and destroying these linkages. The long lasting conflict in the north can therefore be seen to a certain degree as an attack on the community's security and the destruction of it, even though the attackers do not incorporate a different ethnic group or a community in themselves.

Another example of a community breakdown and war tactic used by LRA is the act of forced marriage. A report based on in-depth investigation on LRA forced marriages revealed that crimes committed against the females forced to marry were not accidental, but instead methodically organized by senior LRA leaders. The leadership exercised strict control over the sexuality of abducted girls and women through violence, intimidation and discrimination; but the women's presence served to bolster fighter morale and support the systems which

²⁴² FESS, 2006: 50.

²⁴³ Mckay and Mazurana, 2004: 28

perpetuated the course of killing, looting, raiding and abduction.²⁴⁴ This act of forced marriage has chronic ongoing consequences long after conflicts have formally ended. Some formerly abducted women experience rejection by their family or community; others see no other option than to continue with the marriage forced on them in captivity. But the study found no evidence to support Acholi leaders claim that Acholi girls wished to continue with these marriages after they were released from captivity.²⁴⁵ Furthermore the report mentioned how many former abducted women expressed their extreme dissatisfaction with being asked to take part in a traditional ceremony for the purpose of cleansing them of their guilt and experiences of rape, forced impregnation and child-bearing in captivity.²⁴⁶

Lastly the issue of bride price touches community security on two levels. The abolition of it can be seen as a threat to old traditions upheld by communities, but the continuance of it may also sustain gender inequality and ill treatment of women. A recent ruling by the Ugandan Constitutional Court in April 2010 rejected the petition to abolish the practice. The Tororo-based lobby group had argued that bride price was degrading and caused domestic violence, and cited cases such as refusal to bury a woman at her parents' burial ground when bride price had not been submitted and the refunding of bride price in case of a divorce²⁴⁷. In this light bride price can make it impossible for a woman to opt out of a bad marriage. It can also be seen to degrade the woman to a commodity of trade. Despite the court's ruling, the matter has not ended as the lobby group stated that it would appeal the ruling to the Supreme Court.

4.7. Political Security

Uganda's status in terms of performance on upholding human rights, freedom of the press, repression of individuals and control over ideas and information varies depending on which aspect one decides to focus on. As for the strengthening of Uganda's democratic practices, much progress has been made in the last decade. A testament to this progress is the fairness of the presidential elections in 2001 and the advent of a multi-party national election in 2005. Nonetheless much more

²⁴⁴ Carlson and Mazurana, 2008: 4.

²⁴⁵ Ibid: 5.

²⁴⁶ Ibid: 7.

²⁴⁷ Kiwawulo, 2010, April 5th.

needs to be done and recent events seem to underline this claim, such as the arrest of journalists and the related constraining of press freedom.²⁴⁸

Other noteworthy happenings are the recent amendments to the constitution which enable the president to run for three consecutive terms in a row. If president Museveni will be elected he will have presided as President longer than any other leader in eastern Africa. Corruption remains a wide and far reaching problem within Uganda, as the 2009 Global Corruption Barometer indicates. Acts of petty bribery are reported to be growing in some areas and the police are mentioned as the most likely recipient. Uganda has the dubious honour of being part of the 8 countries with most prevalence of bribery. Likewise Uganda's judiciary sector is listed in the national ratings among the single institutions or sectors perceived to being most affected by corruption.

The status of women in Uganda also gives room for improvement, and the UNDP gender-related development index for 2009 ranked the country 131 out of 155 countries listed – one rank higher than in the previous UNDP report. Despite this, women's position in Uganda can be defined as somewhat stronger than its neighbouring counterparts in eastern Africa. This is for example evident from the fact that women in Uganda occupy 30 per cent of parliamentary seats and the proportion of female ministers is higher than in most countries, at 23 per cent. This is in part due to the fact that Uganda was one of the first countries to use the kind of affirmative policies prescribed in the Beijing recommendations. However these numbers do not tell the whole story, as there is still a long way towards achieving gender equality in all spheres.

A recent doctoral thesis by Ruth Nalumaga from the University of Gothenburg claims that female parliamentarians in Uganda are still disadvantaged despite their social position having improved. Nalumaga interviewed female and male representatives of parliament as well as representatives from women's councils out in the constituencies, and her thesis addresses the issue of what happens after women get into parliament. Her findings were that what seemed to

²⁴⁸ World Food Programme, 2009: 15.

²⁴⁹ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, February 3rd.

²⁵⁰ Transparency International, 2009: 3.

²⁵¹ Ibid: 6.

²⁵² UNDP, 2009: 183.

²⁵³ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010a, March 10th.

²⁵⁴ Wokuri, 2009, August 8th.

be an equal access of the genders to information from the parliamentary organisation turned out to show men's advantaged position. Male members were better prepared as they hired information assistants for summarizing documents and they subscribed to additional information resources. In addition, men, who on average have more experience and free time, maintained communication sources and contacts to solve the problem of locating information. Women MPs were still expected to attend to domestic chores for their families and relatives, despite their status having changed. The thesis thus showed that positive discrimination is not enough to deliver real power, even if 80 per cent of women in the Ugandan Parliament are said to have attained their seats by such discrimination.²⁵⁵

What seems positive, however, for the future of women in Uganda is that the country has a strong women's movement. It had an important role during colonial times and received added importance during the rule of Milton Obote from 1962-1971. Sadly the women's movement was repressed during Idi Amin's reign, but became important again under Obote in 1980-1985. Another important fact that underlines women's improving and empowered position is the election of Dr. Speciosa Wandira Kazibwe as Uganda's Vice President in 1994; Uganda being the first African country to take such a step.²⁵⁶

The strength of Uganda's women's movement is further illustrated in a study showing that 29 per cent of Ugandan women belong to a party or a women's group. 257 Furthermore, Ugandan women's movement and related organisations have been recognised for their effectiveness in building pressure for peace, ²⁵⁸ and also for incorporating groups of women from different ethnicities, nationalities and religions.²⁵⁹

This active engagement can be further viewed in women's recent protests in relation to the aforementioned upcoming elections in 2011. In January 2010, 50 women were put in prison after demanding the resignation of the executive of the election board. Their protests were based on the women's doubts about the election board's ability to guarantee free and fair elections to presidency and parliament. Furthermore the government of Uganda has declared that it will

²⁵⁵ University of Gothenburg, 2009.

²⁵⁶ Hulda Proppé, 2003: 33: 28.

²⁵⁷ Goets, 2008/2009: 19.

²⁵⁸ Ibid: 20.

²⁵⁹ Hulda Proppé, 2003: 33: 28.

handle all protests in the run up to the elections in a serious manner.²⁶⁰ In sum, this short summary has shown the fertile and active environment for women' political involvement in Uganda, but also some of the many limitations and hindrances women may face.

4.8. Conclusion

The specific examples given here of women's insecurities in Uganda show a high correlation to the general difficulties women in developing countries are facing, as analysed in chapter 3. It would seem that Ugandan women face every type of security threat belonging to the human security scale. That of course is not the reality for all, as this account can only manage to scratch the surface of this debate and to offer extreme generalisations. What it does show is that women in Uganda are resilient, strong, independent and active and should therefore not be understood purely as victims of insecurity. At the same time there is still great room for improvement and much needed work to be done. Some issues could benefit from outside assistance, but most changes still need to originate and be empowered from within. It is within the power and the right of Ugandan women themselves to lead the way forward for those who want to help in the process. It is against this background that the next chapter will look at relevant aspects of Iceland's foreign policy and how the country has conducted its development cooperation in general terms.

 $^{^{260}}$ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, January $20^{\rm th}.$

5. Iceland

What can a small, remote but rich state with no armed forces like Iceland do to help another state with human/gender security issues, and what can it not do? The first thing to keep in mind is of course to the difficulty in definition and the problematic nature of what constitutes human security. Iceland has not placed particular emphasis on the concept itself, even though it has recognised its existence as well as its controversial nature. It would however be possible to argue that Iceland through its different projects and policies has already for some time worked along the lines of human security in practice. In an era so influenced by human security, many countries have undertaken projects that relate in some way to the concept – especially given its broad initial focus and close links with development. Any country taking part in multilateral or bilateral aid might be seen as having worked towards providing e.g. economic security or health security, which of course belong to the human security spectrum. Definitional efforts aside, it is now a general recognition that development and security can be interdependent and states should begin to approach the matter accordingly. This need for coherence applies especially to larger countries that are providing e.g. development aid, diplomatic aid, military aid and foreign policy aid to the same countries. If the interplay between all these is not at least considered, it could result in lack of coordination, duplication of efforts or possibly inconsistency.

Another context in which states' contributions might be assessed is that of global human security. The 1994 UNDP report presented this issue specifically in a section following the seven development-linked categories on which this thesis is based, and defined global human security as the need to tackle threats to humanity spilling over national frontiers. The real threats in this context for the 21st century were said to arise from the actions of million of people rather than from aggression by a few nations. They included unchecked population growth, disparities in economic opportunities, excessive international migration, environmental degradation, drug production and trafficking, and international terrorism.²⁶¹ Today one could add on a similar note: the transnational spread of

²⁶¹ UNDP, 1994: 34.

disease, human trafficking,²⁶² cyber-security threats,²⁶³ nuclear threats from and terrorists.²⁶⁴ This agenda has been less explored here since it is less of sphere for individual countries than for new forms of international cooperation. Even so, and although many of the challenges involved are ones shared by rich states or even caused for rich states by poor ones, any new regulations or actions adopted as a result will alter the context for international development cooperation as well. What this mention of global human security does yet again underline – besides widening the range of theoretically relevant Icelandic choices and contributions - is the extreme complexities when considering a human security based policy approach.

Putting the issue of defining human security briefly aside and before reviewing what Iceland has been doing so far, it may be asked in general terms what means Iceland possesses to participate in work across the range of human/gender security needs. It would seem obvious, at this point in time, that a small country with no army would not be able to offer any assistance in terms of militaristic interventions, training of military personnel or contributing armed forces to a peace mission. Iceland's focus would have to be on those fields where it can make an input, either through bilateral aid, multilateral aid, short term humanitarian aid, civilian experts and services for peace missions, disaster relief or peace building.

Whatever the chosen focus of assistance will be, one thing is for certain: that donors working on any aspect of the development and security nexus must be aware of the gender impact of what they are doing. They must avoid negative or contradictory impacts and do what they can to target gender insecurities directly either through mainstreaming this aspect into broader security/development programme, or by separate gender-targeted actions. If gender implications are ignored or misunderstood, but also if different donors trying to influence gender conditions follow contradictory lines - as has all too often happened in the past - the donor effort can easily become part of the problem. The general history of development aid shows that it is all too easy to make bad decisions, as the present situation of many developing countries can be said to be the fruit of decades of

.

²⁶² Picciotto, Robert, Funmi Olonisakin and Micheal Clarke. 2005: 21.

²⁶³ Bronk, 2009, August 13th.

²⁶⁴ Condon, 2010, April 13th.

unsuccessful past aid efforts. Development cooperation has been and still is today a learning process where, despite the negative points just cited, much has been achieved as well as lessons drawn from previous mistakes.

How do some of the problems with development work take concrete shape? An interesting example is provided in Guðrún Haraldsdóttir's article "Gendered aspects and development cooperation in the fishing industry". She claims that today's gendered division of labour in the fishing industries of developing countries can often be traced back to the former work of international development agencies. Their past assistance has been based on the view that the fishing industry was the sphere of men. This emphasis resulted in women's losing any role within the industry, with the consequence that women had a difficult time in taking advantage of the new opportunities presented in a changed environment. It is interesting to note that problems of this nature are being more openly addressed today in development cooperation; which suggests donors do realize the need to correct their former wrongdoings.

A different, controversial and a possibly very harmful example of the same sort is illustrated by the HIV/AIDS campaigns in Uganda. The first AIDS control programme in Uganda was set up in 1987 and it promoted the ABC approach (abstain, be faithful, use condoms); later recognised as one of the key features in an early and successful response to AIDS within the country. Nevertheless, abstinence has always been a controversial area of Uganda's HIV prevention campaign and has come under particular scrutiny with PEPFAR's²⁶⁶ programmes launched in 2003. PEPFAR, the American government initiative, has been in recent years channelling large sums of money through pro-abstinence and even anti-condom organisations that are faith-based, and believe sexual abstinence should be the central pillar of the fight against HIV. Along these lines, Ugandan teachers are reported to have received instructions not to discuss condoms in schools because the new policy is abstinence only. Sadly, PEPFAR's efforts are believed to have shifted the whole focus of prevention in Uganda away from its earlier ABC approach. This has been confirmed by the UN Special Envoy for HIV/AIDS in Africa, Stephen Lewis, who has claimed that this approach has disrupted the preventive apparatus and undoubtedly caused unneeded

-

²⁶⁵ Guðrún Haraldsdóttir, 2005: 26.

²⁶⁶ U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

infections.²⁶⁷ This example shows clearly the serious and harmful effects donors can have by enforcing bad policy based solely on donor values.

5.1. Icelandic Official Actors and Policies

An independent assessment done on behalf of the Ministry for Foreign Affairs (MFA) in February 2008 claimed that Icelandic Development Cooperation had reached the goal of becoming one of the cornerstones of Icelandic foreign policy. At that point in time, contributions to development cooperation were more than one third of the Foreign Ministry expenditure as well as being the single largest item of expenditure. Iceland was still not among the nations providing most funds to development relative to GDP, but the assessment underlined Iceland's goal to join that group.²⁶⁸ This plan for progress has come to a standstill as result of the Icelandic financial crash, with future plans now looking very uncertain.

Official development cooperation in general follows two lines: bilateral aid; given by one country directly to another; and multilateral aid, based on contributions by the donor country to an international organisation which then distributes it among the developing countries. Bilateral aid normally constitutes the majority of funds given by industrialized states compared to multilateral aid, but this has been the opposite in Iceland's case. Organizationally Iceland's MFA is in charge of multilateral aid and the Icelandic International Development Agency (ICEIDA) deals with bilateral aid.

The multilateral support supervised by the Directorate for International Development within the MFA consists of a wide range of instruments and projects: the Icelandic Crisis Response Unit providing personnel for peace and humanitarian missions; payments to different UN institutions, the World Bank, Icelandic NGOs, the United Nations Universities in Iceland; the reception of refugees, emergency relief support, and other types of multilateral aid.²⁷⁰ What is especially interesting for the present context is the proportionate increase the MFA has made in recent years in its contributions and working costs devoted to the field of gender equality within development. For the present year (2010), funds allocated to this sphere will amount to 13 per cent of total expenditure, whereas six years ago it was only 1.4 per cent. That makes 207 million Icelandic

²⁶⁷ AVERT, 2010.

²⁶⁸ Sigurbjörg Sigurgeirsdóttir, 2008a: 3.

²⁶⁹ Hermann Örn Ingólfsson og Jónas H. Haralz, 2003: v.

²⁷⁰ Utanríkisráðuneytið, 2007.

krona allocated to gender equality in 2010 as compared to 14 million in the year 2004. In 2009, 281 million were contributed to these same projects but because of the recession the impact was in fact lower (when converted into other currencies). These increases result from a policy shift in 2005 when total contributions to development cooperation were increased as a result of a decision made by the government. Contributions directed to gender equality started their relative higher growth at the same time. ²⁷¹

The first holistic policy for Icelandic Development Cooperation was developed for the years 2005-2009. At that point in time, ICEIDA was an independent agency attached to the Ministry for Foreign Affairs, yet complying with the general development policy of the Icelandic Government.²⁷² The new development policy stressed four pillars: (1) human resources, equality and economic development, (2) democracy, human rights and governance, (3) peace, security and development and (4) sustainable development.²⁷³ No evaluation or assessment of the success of this policy has so far taken place or is likely to take place, as what is now recognised as a shortcoming of the 2005 document is its lack of measurable outputs.²⁷⁴ Hermann Örn Ingólfsson, director general for the Directorate for International Development, has also commented that the policy could have been further improved with an added gender focus.²⁷⁵ Nevertheless, this policy document was an extremely important document of its time for Icelandic development cooperation²⁷⁶ and can be viewed as one of the precursors for other significant steps taken in recent years.

Arguably the most important of these steps was the enactment of the first comprehensive laws on Iceland's development cooperation. The *Act on Iceland's International Development Cooperation*; No.121 entered into force on October 1st 2008, amended with Act No. 126/2008, from October 23rd. Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir, the former minister for Foreign Affairs, described these laws as entailing a thorough administrative reform. Their texts emphasize effective,

²⁷¹ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010b, March 10th.

²⁷² Utanríkisráðuneytið, 2005: 29.

²⁷³ Ibid: 14-21.

²⁷⁴ Hermann Örn Ingólfsson og Elín R. Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

²⁷⁵ Ibid

²⁷⁶ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

transparent and responsible governance, clear strategy and an increased involvement of Parliament.²⁷⁷

An example of a positive reinforcement can be found in article three, act. No.121, as it provides a solution to the aforementioned lack of measurable outputs. The article states that the Minister for Foreign Affairs shall submit every other year a parliamentary proposal for implementing the government's four-year plan on international development cooperation. This plan should report on contributions made and how they should be allocated on the basis of Iceland's policy in the long and short term. Lastly but perhaps most importantly the plan should stipulate how the Minister intends to achieve the plan's objectives. The next policy plan to be presented for Iceland will therefore be quite different from the previous 2005-2009 plan and will constitute more of a policy plan of action. It is currently expected to be submitted in autumn 2010.

Another positive advance for Iceland's international development cooperation is the plan to become a member of the OECD Development Assistance Committee (DAC). Iceland applied first for membership in 2004²⁸¹ but then later withdrew the application. Again in February 2008, Minister Gísladóttir stated she had submitted an application for Iceland to become a member of DAC²⁸² and recent news confirms that this time the application process will be followed through.²⁸³ Iceland's membership to DAC would provide the country with information and direct access to others' experience for the policy planning of development work. Moreover, DAC four-yearly peer reviews can be seen to enhance the quality of development cooperation as well as imposing important professional discipline.²⁸⁴ The benefits of entering DAC are also cited in *ICEIDA's Gender Equality Policy*, which mentions the DAC's already established gender mainstreaming methodology²⁸⁵ as well DAC's paper *Working on Gender Equality* which was the source for the publication of guidelines on how to achieve the goals of the Beijing Platform for Action.²⁸⁶ Within that context it is interesting

2

²⁷⁷ Utanríkisráðuneytið, 2008.

²⁷⁸ Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2009b.

²⁷⁹ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

²⁸⁰ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, April 14th.

²⁸¹ The Icelandic International Development Agency, 2005: 15.

²⁸² Alþingi. 2008, February 28th.

²⁸³ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

²⁸⁴ Alþingi. 2008, February 28th.

²⁸⁵ The Icelandic International Development Agency, 2005: 29.

²⁸⁶ Ibid: 15.

to note that work is already underway within ICEIDA to set up an Icelandic development assistance database along similar lines as those held by DAC and other leading development institutions. This database will among other things give information regarding the gendered angle of projects.²⁸⁷

Before concluding this discussion on policy, it is important to note that ICEIDA also follows the prescriptions of the aforementioned Act on development cooperation. 288 More importantly, the agency has a specific gender policy launched in August 2004 which aims to promote gender equality within the agency and its partnering countries. This is carried out by mainstreaming gender and gender equality perspectives into the agency's projects. The policy is based on two principal elements: the understanding that gender equality is a human rights issue, and recognition that the affirmation of gender equality, i.e. equal rights, responsibilities and opportunities for men and women, is a prerequisite for effective development.²⁸⁹

5.2. Multilateral Contributions

Among the multilateral aid initiatives supported by the MFA are donations to UNIFEM, where Iceland is one of the fund's most dedicated supporters. Other noteworthy support is given to the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA), which works to promote the rights of mothers and children to health, the protection of infants, distribution of contraceptives, and sex and family education. Likewise the MFA supports the World Bank's four-year Gender Action Plan which is aimed at increasing women's economic power and thereby economic growth in developing countries.²⁹⁰

Among other supported projects, the aforementioned GET Programme is a prominent one in terms of gender and security. The programme is in its initial pilot period so assessment of its future role is difficult at this stage. Nevertheless, the programme's set-up and ambitious mission statement seem to indicate that if proven successful, its acquired knowledge could be shared with the entirety of Iceland's development cooperation structure as well as the international community. The programme's objective is to contribute to social and

 $^{^{287}}$ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

²⁸⁸ ICEIDA, 2007: 2

²⁸⁹ The Icelandic International Development Agency, 2005:7.

²⁹⁰ UNIFEM, 2010a.

economic welfare in developing and post-conflict countries by promoting gender equality, increasing women's empowerment and encouraging participation of women in decision-making processes at all levels.²⁹¹ The programme targets professionals working for government and civil society organisations in developing countries and post-conflict societies undergoing reconstruction, offering them a 20-week training course in Iceland. In addition, short courses and seminars are to be held for professionals from both developed and developing countries.²⁹²

The GET Programme's possible future interaction with other development entities is not a coincidence, as the programme builds on the experience and follows the structure of the other United Nations University (UNU) programmes conducted in Iceland, namely the UNU Geothermal Training Programme, the UNU Fisheries Training Programme and the Land Restoration Training Programme. The different programmes now plan to work together, and according to Sjöfn Vilhelmsdóttir one important aim will be to develop methods of mainstreaming gender into the training on utilization of natural resources. This cooperation will boost gender mainstreaming within Iceland's development cooperation work more generally.²⁹³

The UNU Fisheries Training Programme has cooperated closely since 1998 with ICEIDA, ²⁹⁴ which has supported over 20 students from its partnering countries to attend the programme. The GET Programme could follow suit, and already an official request has been sent from the MFA to ICEIDA to introduce the programme in its partnering countries.²⁹⁵

On the above showing the GET Programme could prove to be an important instrument for Iceland's future input into work on the issues of women and security. In cooperation with the other programmes, it will not only work along the lines of promoting gender equality and adapting gender approaches to natural resource sectors, but also introduce the prescriptions of UNSCR 1325 on women's role in peace processes.²⁹⁶ Bearing in mind the remarks above about the abilities of empowered Ugandan women, it is good to note also that the GET

²⁹¹ GET Programme, 2009b

²⁹² GET Programme, 2009a.

²⁹³ Sjöfn Vilhelmsdóttir, 2008: 45.

²⁹⁴ Björn Dagbjartsson, 2005: 8.

²⁹⁵ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

²⁹⁶ GET Programme, 2009b

Programme does not see itself as a one-way conveyer of information and knowledge production. Rather it stresses a two-way transnational dialogue, disseminating cross-cultural ideas and information exchange.²⁹⁷ The programme can therefore be seen to benefit not only future participants, but equally those working within development cooperation in Iceland and those working on equality in Iceland – who can test their own ideas and draw fresh lessons from abroad.

To continue on the path of gender and security, gender quality issues have increasingly played an important role within Iceland's (civilian) peace-keeping efforts and the country's support to projects by international organisations. One example of this is the ICRU secondment of Icelandic specialists to work for UNIFEM in conflict-stricken areas since 2000 and also the financial support given to UNIFEM projects in both Palestine and Afghanistan. ²⁹⁸ Without wanting to go much deeper into the workings of the ICRU, it is interesting to note that by the end of 2007, a significant change had been made in the gender distribution of ICRU positions compared with previous years. By that time the total proportion of women among personnel deployed abroad was 40-45 per cent, which is one of the highest percentages of women peacekeepers in the world. ²⁹⁹ This is accredited partly to a shift in projects and priorities which resulted in the positions on offer appealing to both men and women. At the same time this policy change echoes the spirit of UNSCR 1325. ³⁰⁰

As mentioned previously, Iceland has emphasised internationally the importance of UNSCR 1325, by launching its National Action Plan and by hosting an international conference on the topic in 2009. Many interesting ideas and proposals were brought up during the conference on UNSCR1325, including the notion that women and men holding positions of power e.g. in governments, international organisations and NGOs could use their positions to facilitate women's empowerment elsewhere. Another suggestion was that twinning or cross-learning should be used to increase the number of UN member states with a National Action Plan. ³⁰¹ Iceland could thus, for example, use its National Action

-

²⁹⁷ Annadís Rúdólfsdóttir. 2010, April 16th.

²⁹⁸ Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010b, March 10th.

²⁹⁹ Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2007b: 18. ³⁰⁰ Ibid: 7.

³⁰¹ 1325 Women Negotiating Peace, 2009b.

Plan as a basis to raise the issue of UNSCR 1325 within those countries where it has a diplomatic presence either through embassies or consulates. ICEIDA could also use its presence within its partner countries to raise the issue of UNSCR 1325 or establish links or networks where information could be exchanged. The type of information which would be of interest to share with partner countries includes the outcome of the 2009 conference and proposals made there. In Uganda's case the exchange of information could be established with ease as Uganda has already established a National Action Plan as was noted earlier.

5.3. Bilateral contributions

Iceland's vehicle of bilateral aid; ICEIDA, has five partner countries at present: Malawi, Mozambique, Uganda, Namibia and Nicaragua³⁰². However, the agency's cooperation with Namibia will finish in the end of 2010 and Nicaragua in 2012, mainly due to the cutbacks resulting from the financial crash.³⁰³ The agency's policy is to place particular emphasis on a few countries and a few sectors where Icelandic expertise is of greatest value. Most ICEIDA projects are related to capacity building and training in the fisheries, health, energy and adult education sectors.³⁰⁴ They agency has not placed a particular emphasis on specific gender projects, but instead on acquiring a good balance of different projects which are then gender mainstreamed.³⁰⁵

Iceland's partnership with Uganda was initiated with the signing of a general agreement for development cooperation in 2000 and was further reinforced with the opening of an Icelandic Embassy in June 2004. ICEIDA's projects are in the fields of adult literacy, rural development, entrepreneurship training programmes and fisheries.³⁰⁶

Given the focus in this thesis on Uganda as a test-case, it is apposite that the agency's present largest supported programme concerns the Kalangala District Development Programme (KDDP) in Uganda. ICEIDA has supported this district since 2002 with assistance to its Functional Adult Literacy Programme (FALP). Good progress in FALP led the local authorities to ask ICEIDA for an additional support specific to the district's development programme. The

_

³⁰² ICEIDA, 2007.

³⁰³ ICEIDA, 2010a.

³⁰⁴ ICEIDA, 2010b.

³⁰⁵ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

³⁰⁶ ICEIDA, 2010c.

³⁰⁷ Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands, 2010: 1.

Agency's official support of the KDDP started in 2006 and will continue until 2015. The programme support is divided into four spheres: governance, education, health and the fishery sector. In order to ensure programme ownership by the locals, all the planning and execution of the KDDP was done in cooperation with the local authorities and district employees. According to ICEIDA's project manager in Uganda, Drífa Hrönn Kristjánsdóttir, the KDDP support has already in its fourth year started to show results. This can for example be seen in terms of the support to education, with more children enrolling and fewer dropping out. Furthermore, they have better accommodation and their grades have gone up. 309

This approach of supporting districts has not been the typical method of approach for ICEIDA in the past. ICEIDA was established by law in 1981, and the laws and their interpretation at that time led the agency to adopt a method of project support. This is the approach most often used within development cooperation and involves providing funding for defined goals within a specific time frame. This approach has been criticised for the lack of a long-term and comprehensive overview and for being designed more to suit the donor's objectives and circumstances. The laws from 1981 did not actually stand in the way of ICEIDA's supporting the KDDP, even if it remains true that the aforementioned new laws from 2008 did open up new possibilities for different approaches and methods. The laws from 2008 did open up new possibilities for different approaches and methods.

An easily grasped merit of the new district development approach, which has also been used by the agency in Malawi, is that when focusing on a particular locality over time, a deeper understanding of the complexities at hand can be gained. In the same manner, gender mainstreaming, measuring output and general assessment of the programme is made easier. What should always be a given, but sadly is not always the case, is the emphasis that the KDDP places on local ownership and connection with the grass roots That way, the local community and the individual have a voice and are active participants in the whole process. The idea of emphasising the individual and his needs is precisely what the human security concept set out to bring attention to.

³⁰⁸ Þórarinna Söebech, 2008: 52.

³⁰⁹ Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands, 2010: 2.

³¹⁰ Sigurbjörg Sigurgeirsdóttir, 2008b: 10.

³¹¹ Ibid.

Another point to note is that ICEIDA, by supporting KDDP, is being faithful to its policy of improving the conditions of the poorest. Overall living conditions in this district are among the worst within Uganda, with a 30 per cent prevalence of HIV/AIDS, well above the national average of 6.7 per cent. There are also problems of domestic violence, prostitution and high levels of alcohol consumption. This type of situation, as was shown in the preceding chapters, affects the position of women and men in different ways. This fact has not gone unnoticed by ICEIDA, and project leader Kristjánsdóttir has stated in a recent interview that while the project has affected and improved the position of women and children in Kalangala in many ways, this part of the programme could be even more strengthened when the next phase is planned. The programme could be seven more strengthened when the next phase is planned.

It can be claimed that many positive advances are on the horizon for Icelandic development cooperation in relation to gender issues. According to the Deputy Director General of ICEIDA, Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, the first gender audit of a bilateral project will take place in 2010. The agency chose to assess an Adult Literacy Project in Malawi which has been supported since 2001. ICEIDA itself will be in charge of the assessment, but the methods used to perform the audit are still being developed and tested as an audit of this kind has never been done before. More generally, Sigurðardóttir has stated that a greater emphasis will be placed on monitoring the implementation of gender mainstreaming in ICEIDA's work, as a clause has been included in each country director's job description detailing their responsibilities in this respect.³¹⁴

Lastly it is noteworthy to mention the issue of Gender Responsive Budgeting (GRB), and the possible involvement of ICEIDA. The Icelandic government decided in 2009 to adopt a GRB approach to the national budget in 2011. Iceland's Minister of Finance, Steingrímur J. Sigfússon, formed an advisory committee for the policy formulation and preparation of GRB which will introduce the government's first GRB projects in 2011. But what is GRB? According to a manual published by the Council of Europe, and translated and issued in Icelandic in March 2010, GRB involves mainstreaming gender and gender equality into the budgetary process. That entails identifying and assessing

_

³¹² Þórarinna Söebech, 2008: 51.

³¹³ Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands, 2010: 4.

³¹⁴ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

³¹⁵ Fjármálaráðuneytið. 2010a, March 13th.

the budget's gender-differentiated impacts, which then can be used to restructure revenue and expenditure on the basis of gender equality. GRB is not about dividing the budget between the genders but about analysing circumstantial needs for each and every aspect of expenditure. Besides contributing to the advancement of gender equality and the fulfilment of women's rights, the application of GRB can entail added transparency and goal setting.316

According to Sigurðardóttir, a meeting was held in March 2010 where among discussed topics was the assessment of how ICEIDA could better follow through with the agency's gender equality policy and how it could use GRB in its own projects. 317 An application of GRB in ICEIDA's projects would undoubtedly improve and further assist in the mainstreaming of gender equality within the agency's work. It is important however to note that this idea is not new in the field of development or international affairs, but originates from the Beijing Platform for Action in 1995 where governments pledged to "adjust budgets to ensure equality of access to public sector expenditures". 318 Likewise it is interesting to note that UNIFEM is one of the world's leading supporters of GRB efforts, having since 1997 supported GRB initiatives in more than 40 countries.³¹⁹

5.4. Nordic Cooperation

According to the website of the Icelandic Ministry for Foreign Affairs, the Nordic countries have worked closely in many ways in multilateral development assistance. Among other things they have established the Nordic Development Fund (NDF) which is funded by the countries' development aid contributions.³²⁰ In this context it is interesting to note a recent international meeting held in Oslo in November 2009 by the governments of Norway, Denmark, Finland, and Sweden within the context of their partnership on gender equality, democracy, women's rights and development.³²¹ The logic of a gathering of this kind seems self-evident, as the Nordic countries share a common history and ancestry and similar values, leading them i.a. to place a special importance on gender equality.

The Nordic meeting aimed to compile a list of recommendations for action, which would encourage the Nordic governments to move towards a joint

³¹⁶ Fjármálaráðuneytið, 2010b: v.

Pórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

³¹⁸ UNESCO, 1995.

³¹⁹ UNIFEM, 2010b.

³²⁰ Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2010.

³²¹ NORAD, 2009, November 20th.

agenda on gender equality and sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR).³²² Many notable recommendations were made, including the call for all Nordics to continue to promote gender equality and SRHR as issues of priority within the international community, including UN agencies, bi-and multilateral agencies, civil society, corporate society and the International Financial Institutions.³²³

Other recommendations include the recognition of the power of ownership. Social change is said to be best supported from within communities by supporting community networks, mass media, involvement and empowering of women and men at the grass-root level. The requirements for transformative impact and sustainable improvement are leadership, national ownership, partnership and conducive legal frameworks. Equally, donors, the government, civil society, international NGOs and the private sector need to collaborate more closely. 324 Furthermore the Nordic states are urged to pay special attention to SRHR, gender equality and women's special needs in conflict, post-conflict and humanitarian situations.³²⁵ This listing provides only a brief insight to the many ambitious and instructive recommendations brought together during the meeting. From Iceland's viewpoint as the smallest Nordic state, joint efforts of this sort are likely to be even more important and provide particular added value.

On April 12th, a conference was held in Oslo under the name of "What happened to the Nordic development model?" organised by the Nordic Council and the foreign policy researcher Asle Toje. The Norwegian web magazine, Internationalle Udviklingsspørsmål, drew attention to the belief that the Nordic nations as well as the governments of Canada and Netherlands had very similar approaches to development and foreign policy: and it was this that the Oslo meeting sought to address and challenge. What its findings revealed was that there is still today much critical debate as to how best to conduct development cooperation and that the solutions adopted by the states mentioned can be very different.³²⁶ Given today's growing emphasis on cooperation between states and joint efforts, formally brought to the forefront with the signing of the *Paris*

³²² Ibid.

The Ministries of Foreign Affairs in the Nordic Countries, 2009: 6

³²⁴ Ibid: 6

³²⁵ Ibid: 7.

³²⁶ Internasjonale utviklingsspørsmål. 2010, April 9th.

Declaration in 2005,³²⁷ such Nordic divergence is not positive and calls for more joint efforts like the recent international meeting.

5.5. Possible Critiques

At a conference on Africa hosted by UNIFEM in September 2008, Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir said that Icelanders recognise that implementation and assessment of the GRB approach are not only challenging but also the most effective way to ensure active participation of women within development. More generally and most importantly, she stressed how true it is in the context of gender equality that getting things done is much more difficult than stating what should be done. This remains the big and simple truth for international development cooperation. It is hard to find anyone within the development field today who would contest the great importance of empowering women. Yet when all is said and done, the looked-for successes are often elusive. The recently reported news and debates on the great difficulty encountered in trying to set up a special UN agency for women can perhaps provide an example of how tricky related matters can be. This situation makes critiquing any particular nation's gender mainstreaming efforts almost seem unfair in a sense: yet it remains vital to assess whether things can in fact be improved.

One way of assessing ICEIDA's success in its gender equality policy is to review the agency's annual reports from the years of publication in 2001- 2008. Putting things in simple terms, in the years 2001-2007, gender mainstreaming is just mentioned once, referencing a project supported by DANIDA.³³⁰ Although that does not prove that gender mainstreaming has not taken place in any shape or form, these findings suggest that the matter was not a priority. A great change is witnessed in 2008, when each and every partner country has a specific gender mainstreaming section.³³¹ This is certainly a step forward, but not an outstanding performance overall.

Another point to note regards the review arrangements for ICEIDA's policy on gender equality. Chapter seven of the policy document states that a review should take place on a regular basis pursuant to the decision of the

 $^{^{327}}$ Sigurbjörg Sigurgeirsdóttir. 2008b: 8.

Ministry for Foreign Affairs, 2008b.

³²⁹ Deen, Thalif, 2010, March 4th.

³³⁰ ICEIDA, 2001-2007.

³³¹ ICEIDA, 2008.

ICEIDA Board of Directors.³³² The trouble with this statement is that it does not mention a specific point in time of when the review ought to take place - which may partly explain why this has not yet occurred. This same problem does not apply to the Icelandic National Action Plan on UNSCR 1325, which stipulates that a review should take place in 2011. This can be seen as a lesson learned and a positive model for Iceland in the future.

Some further interesting ways of judging Iceland's efforts in terms of policy and implementation can be found by comparing Iceland to Norway, Sweden and Denmark. This too of course has an element of unfairness, as there is a huge disparity between funding, staff and the countries' relative sizes. Reviews of the UNSCR 1325 action plan take place more often within the other Nordic states, with Norway³³³ and Sweden³³⁴ pledging early evaluations or reviews, and Denmark having already reviewed its plan once since its adoption in 2005 and updated it with lessons learned from 2005-2007.³³⁵

Another notable difference between Iceland and the above mentioned countries is that the Norwegian³³⁶, Swedish³³⁷ and Danish³³⁸ action plans specifically mention their country's bilateral international development cooperation agencies: i.e. NORAD, SIDA and DANIDA, respectively. The Icelandic plan does not specifically mention ICEIDA, but instead states that "gender perspectives will be integrated into all projects, operations, policy making and legislation regarding peace, security and development issues". Having ICEIDA also entrusted with specific responsibility under UNSCR 1325 could help further the aims of the resolution, as the discussion above has shown.

Another more specific example concerning the relationship between ICEIDA and MFA may be added here. One of the Oslo recommendations from the Nordic meeting on SHRH urged the participants to arrange meetings and events with civil society organizations to report on and share the Expert Meeting's outcome. To this end it would seem important, at the least, to share the news

82

³³² The Icelandic International Development Agency, 2005: 43.

³³³ Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2006: 19.

The Swedish Government, 2009: 24.

³³⁵ Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Defense and Danish National Police, 2008.

³³⁶ Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs, 2006: 6.

³³⁷ The Swedish Government, 2009.

³³⁸ Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Defense and Danish National Police, 2008: 31.

³³⁹ Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2008a: 4.

³⁴⁰ The Ministries of Foreign Affairs in the Nordic Countries, 2009: 10.

with the entirety of the official development community. However, by the time of writing this, ICEIDA had not received any formal notice of the meeting's outcome from the MFA.³⁴¹ No assumptions will be made here as to why this has not happened or whether it will. But this difficulty with the sharing of information between the MFA and ICEIDA was highlighted as a problem in the aforementioned independent assessment of Iceland's development cooperation. That assessment underlined the great importance of the two entities' informal and formal communication for all policy development, as lack of it could lead to duplication of efforts and loss of important information. The assessment claimed unfavourable working conditions, with employees divided between buildings, to be the main cause.³⁴²

This problem was partially addressed in the aforementioned new Law on Iceland's development cooperation, and in more detail in the specific regulations concerning the law's implementation. The regulations set up a special steering group on development cooperation with members of both entities, which are required to meet on a regular basis.³⁴³

To conclude the discussion on possible critiques, it would seem unfair to give the impression that the other Nordic countries are doing everything as they should and Iceland should therefore follow in their footsteps uncritically. Iceland should be able to stand alone and assess its own success and goals while also being able to critically evaluate others' experience. This should be kept in mind, whether it is Iceland acting alone or within a group of states, and whether the context of comparison concerns north vs. south, west vs. east or even the Nordic states vs. the UN. There has, for instance, reportedly been some criticism of the Nordic countries within the UN system for assuming that their situation on gender equality is so far ahead of the rest, they do not need to work as hard as others on promoting measures like the CEDAW Convention. This is a good reminder that all the Nordics, in their policies and implementation, need to be careful to address their gender equality missions with humility as well as with credibility.

_

³⁴¹ Þórdís Sigurðardóttir, 2010.

³⁴² Sigurbjorg Sigurgeirsdottir, 2008a: 23.

³⁴³ Utanríkisráðuneytið, 2009b.

³⁴⁴ Kristín Ástgeirsdóttir, 2009.

5.6. Recommendations

An overall view of Icelandic International Development efforts, especially noting recent advances, shows that many important steps have been taken which are likely to provide professional discipline and improvement in the overall quality of implementation - including preparation, execution and assessment. Professional discipline is furthered for example by the arrival of new laws, which require a more focused engagement in policy formulation with the active participation and cooperation of all development actors and parliament. For the present context, there is also no denying that an added focus on women can be traced across various different Icelandic development efforts. The main examples covered here are a proportional increase in funding for multilateral contributions, the added inputs involved in the founding of GET and hosting of the international conference on UNSCR 1325, the rising numbers of female peace keepers in ICRU, and lastly several aspects of ongoing work in ICEIDA with the first gender audit, preparation of a database and possible future implementation of GRB.

Nonetheless, what may put all of this at risk are the recent cut-backs made as a result of the financial crash. It is therefore vital that what has been achieved is not lost, and that the march forward does continue, despite occurring at a somewhat sluggish speed. Likewise, a self-critical view should be maintained at all times, as the above discussion shows there is still much room for improvement. Notably, efforts to improve the present overall level of cooperation, policy formulation and exchange of information between all actors within Iceland's official development community should continue. Likewise, the importance of formulating action plans with specific inputs designed to achieve specific and measurable outputs cannot be over-stressed. Officials must be ready to make bold decisions in terms of setting a strict timeframe for evaluation of both policy and programmes, and then following through with action. That is the most effective way to draw lessons from what has and has not been achieved and to find the possible reasons for such results.

Despite Iceland being a small donor, it must not be discouraged by its size and often limited means from taking a more active part in the joint international dialogue on the evolution of development cooperation. Iceland can only benefit from a richer and more active external cooperation in general, perhaps especially with the other Nordic countries, as they share a common history and similar

values and are among the largest state donors of aid in the world relative to GDP. Credibility is yet another important factor. Before Iceland lost out on a seat to the Security Council, the country stressed its adherence to the Nordic tradition of being a committed and active partner in development cooperation. Though this statement may be easily contested on the grounds that a great difference lies between Iceland's efforts and that of its neighbours, the fact still remains that if a country seeks to project a certain image of itself within the international community, actions must be taken to uphold that image, even or perhaps especially after the UNSC elections have passed. A similar claim can be made about gender equality and women's security, as that was another Icelandic 'comparative advantage' emphasised before the Security Council elections took place.

If the path of development cooperation is followed with attention to these lessons, and with a continued and perhaps increased focus on gender equality and women's security, then there are already many hopeful prospects in sight for Iceland: as a donor, a partner, and in terms of mutual learning about the true interlinkages of gender, security and development.

6. Conclusion

The concept of human security emerging from the post Cold War era has become one of the best known attempts to establish a different security agenda in international discourse. It sought to challenge the traditional notion of national security and promote the idea of a people-centered view; where the rightful referent of security was the individual rather than the state. Human security also highlighted the fact that people face threats from more sources than just those pertaining to states and the military. These attributes can be viewed as the concept's main strengths and its main usefulness, as they have refocused security discussion from the formerly emphasised state-centric approach to asking questions like 'security for whom?' and 'what kind of security?'.

Despite having helped establish an international moral stand on the importance of the individual's security, the concept has faced its share of critique and debate, and perhaps rightfully so. It has been criticised for its vagueness and for being an impractical guide for policy making. Even so, the concept's present position within the international community is illustrated by all UN member states having signed the 2005 World Summit Outcome Document, where they committed themselves to the continued discussion and analysis of human security within the General Assembly. In general terms, the concept is therefore still very much alive today, whether it is being directly debated, criticized and applied e.g. in operational programmes by leading international bodies or nation states; or indirectly influencing debate and ideas on how best to secure human beings and their livelihood.

One of the many important and critical questions regarding the concept, for international bodies, organisations or even states like Iceland, is how human security can be applied in practice and whether the concept on its own can live up to its prescription of providing human security for all. Different theorists have pointed to the concept's shortcomings, but also to how it might be better applied and understood by combining it with other constructs such as securitization and gender. The concept of securitization or desecuritization involves asking who is the speaker asking for recognition of a given security threat, who are the audience

and whether they have the choice to agree or dismiss the definition. Are these actors indeed the rightful ones at each given time and what are their reasons for securitizing or desecuritizing? With similar benefits, feminists have pointed out that using the concept of gender one can help shed a light on the construction of identities and how they relate to relations of power. This is in turn beneficial to all, since when the understanding of women's security is challenged new ideas are generated and transformed which also cast a light on the security of men. The same can be said for examining the security needs of all types of groups of individuals, whether it be differences within a group or between groups.

In an effort to illuminate how different security threats may face women within developing countries, this thesis has used the seven categories of human security defined in the 1994 UNDP report to give a non-exhaustive review of the problems. The results show that, no matter what limits human security may have as a basis for framing practical policies, it does help in asking the important questions. The review also highlighted that there can be no human security without including the dimension of gender; as gender equality is a precondition for human security. It showed that there are additional spheres like education that are difficult to capture within the UNDP's seven categories of human security but that still greatly affect people's economic security, among others. Further, even such a limited review demonstrates that the interconnectedness of security threats can result in the difficulty of locating a singular source of insecurity. Correspondingly, empowering women and addressing one source of insecurity does not necessarily result in an overall empowerment and stability. Women may be, for example, threatened by domestic violence within the locality of their own homes, as a direct result of their empowerment outside the home. A purely human security approach that fails to look at power relations through gender roles is unlikely to cast a light on this situation. Addressing this source of insecurity, whether it is done within a state or through international cooperation, is obviously a difficult task, but nevertheless something that should be strived for.

Another reality important to stress is that the effort to tackle gender security issues is not just about the well-being of women, it is about the well-being of all. Addressing sources of insecurity and locating spheres that affect women's position naturally translates and transcends into benefits for all of mankind. In societies where a great emphasis is placed on the notion of

masculinity; men may also be hindered from entering the sphere of women. It is for this reason that the discourse of masculinity also needs to be further explored to gain an understanding of the current state of affairs and the power relationship between the genders.

The human security approach was further narrowed down in the following chapter by using conditions in Uganda as a test case. What this revealed was yet again the interconnectedness between sources of insecurity, but also the great complexities and differences which are to be found within just a single country. This creates often immense challenges for those who seek to assist through international development cooperation and raises the question of how much international actors can really do to affect the situation at hand. This is without even raising the issue of when international cooperation crosses the fine line of assistance and support to play a role basically of external interference in state and/or cultural affairs.

The general survey of Uganda showed that despite the vast array of security threats facing women and men, many women are active and empowered within the country. An international dialogue and exchange of ideas and experience with them could benefit and be fruitful for all parties.

Many important steps have been taken within Uganda that may better the position of women within the country. Women themselves are undoubtedly to thank for many if not most of these important advancements, as shown by their active agency today and throughout history. There is nonetheless much room for improvement, and creating gender-sensitive laws is just a first step in a long journey for seeking equality and justice.

Asking how Iceland and its aid efforts relate to the new human security agenda is not an easy question to handle. As a small state with no military and no clearly defined security agenda for the time being, Iceland might find it interesting and possibly beneficial to adopt such a 'little guy's' philosophy which stresses the importance of non-military problems and non-military solutions. Nonetheless, a wholesale Icelandic conversion to or advocacy of human security looks unlikely at present, given the unclear position of the concept in guiding the international bodies Iceland relates to such as the UN, EU and African Union. What Iceland can be advised to do is draw lessons from what human security can teach, and

how it may used to tease out important questions including at the operational level.

Iceland's international development efforts have increased considerably in recent years and many important steps have been taken to this end. The country is just a small donor, but government officials in recent years have expressed a commitment to raise its GDP share. Iceland can also be viewed in recent years as having increased its emphasis on issues of gender equality, women's security and the importance of women's participation for sustainable development. This added focus can be traced both to the liveliness of the gender debate within Iceland, and to an overall recognition by international donors that gender mainstreaming and an added effort to assure women's security and gender equality are goals needing to be taken more seriously. The gender issue has become more than a fancy slogan for special occasions, but rather an issue which needs serious effort, real actions, increased follow-up and overall increased accountability by all.

Iceland has much to learn in this and other aspects of aid and should look towards added international cooperation, as already demanded by international agreements it has joined. This is the obvious way for a small country to truly mature within the field of international development and possibly gain courage to share its own input more readily with the international community.

If one is to single out and assess from afar Iceland's efforts within Uganda, compared to the picture given in this thesis on the state of affairs within the country, it would seem that the latest approaches by ICEIDA and others are likely to result in a good overall outcome. The review of Ugandan conditions showed a vast array of different types of security threats people could possibly face. An Icelandic approach that increasingly recognises the inter-linkages of vulnerability by supporting different levels of society seems to indicate an understanding of the local environment. In the same way, the local people are encouraged to take an active part in formulating their future thus strengthening their ownership of development.

For future reference it will be interesting to see what lessons can be drawn from ICEIDA's support to the district programme and whether this could be applied within different settings and be used to further build on. Likewise it will be interesting to follow whether an added input aimed at bettering the position of women within the Kalangala district has really been made and whether this type

of district programme will result in making gender mainstreaming more feasible and productive.

What Icelanders need to do now is assess their position within the international community and go on a journey of self exploration. They need to answer questions regarding their future stand within the community of nations and what they want to be known for. Presently there are many positive things occurring within Iceland in terms of enhanced gender equality. Will Iceland want to share its experience and continue to project an image of emphasising the strong position of its women as other Nordic states do? Does it want to be a dedicated partner both for recipient countries and other donors in international development cooperation? These are questions too big for this thesis to answer: but considering the country's limits, its assets and its current reputation, this type of identity projection followed through with concrete actions and credibility seems like a very feasible choice for the way ahead.

Bibliography

- African Union. 2007. *Implementation of the Solemn Declaration on Gender Equality in Africa: First Report by All AU Member States, for Consideration at the January 2007 Summit to be held in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010, from http://www.africa-union.org/root/au/Conferences/Past/2006/October/WG/doc.htm
- Aliboni, Roberto and Abdallah Saaf. 2010. *Human security: a new perspective for Euro-Mediterranean cooperation* (Papers for Barcelona). Retrieved March 2nd, 2010, from http://www.iemed.org/publicacions/10papers3.pdf
- AllAfrica. 2010, March 10th. <u>Uganda:</u> UN Health Agency Funds Urgent Medical Supplies in Landslide-Hit Region. Retrieved March 20th, 2010 from http://allafrica.com/stories/201003101061.html
- Alþingi. 2008, February 28th. *Mál 442, Alþjóðlega þróunarsamvinna Íslands* (Löggjafarþing 135, 72. fundur). *Retrieved* April 10th, 2010, from http://www.althingi.is/altext/raeda/135/rad20080228T123858.html
- Amnesty International. 2009. *Uganda: Human Rights in Republic of Uganda*. Retrieved January 20th, 2010, from http://www.amnesty.org/en/region/uganda/report-2009
- Annadís Rúdólfsdóttir. 2010, April 16th. *Fyrirlestur um GET á ráðstefnunni*. *Preserving the Future: Sustainability of Language* (E-mail to author).
- AVERT. 2010. HIV and AIDS in Uganda: The history of AIDS in Uganda.

 Retrieved January 20th, 2010, from http://www.avert.org/aids-uganda.htm
- Baines, Erin. 2005. "Human Insecurity in Global Retrospect: The Case Illustration of Northern Uganda". *In The Future of "Human Security" Challenges, Capability, Identity June 5-7, 2005 Newport, Rhode Island, USA* (International Workshop). Retrieved January 13th, 2010, from http://www.salve.edu/pellcenter/functions/documents/HumanSecurityAge nda.pdf
- BBC. 2009, December 10th. *Uganda bans female genital mutilation*. Retrieved February 20th, from http://news.bbc.co.uk/2/hi/africa/8406940.stm
- Björn Dagbjartsson. 2005. Stuðningur ÞSSÍ við fiskimálaverkefni: sögulegt yfirlit. Próunarsamvinna í fiskimálum: Fréttabréf um þróunarmál, 32/20: 3-8.
- Boswell, Alan. 2009, December 11th. *Africa: Uganda Bans Female Genital Mutilation*. Retrieved February 20th, from http://www1.voanews.com/english/news/africa/Uganda-Bans-Female-Genital-Mutilation-11DEC09--79086892.html

- Bronk, Chris. 2009, August 13th. *Time to Move Toward a More Secure Cyberspace*. Retrieved March 30th, 2010, from http://www.worldpoliticsreview.com/article.aspx?id=4194
- Burgess, J. Peter and Taylor Owen. 2004. "Editor's Note". In *Security Dialogue*, *Volume 35*, *Issue 3*. (p. 345-346). Retrieved February 13th, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/35/3/345
- Buur, Lars, Steffen Jensen and Finn Stepputat (editors) 2007. The Security-Development Nexus: Expressions of Sovereignity and Securitization in Southern Africa. Cape Town: HSRC Press.
- Carlson, Khristopher and Dyan Mazurana, 2008. Forced Marriage within the Lord's Resistance Army, Uganda. Retrieved December 5th, 2009, from http://www.peacewomen.org/resources/Uganda/LRA_Forced_Marriage.pdf
- Chant, Sylvia and Carolyn Pedwell. 2008. Women, gender and the informal economy: an assessment of ILO research and suggested ways forward. Geneva: International Labour Organization. Retrieved March 2nd, 2010: http://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/publication/wcms 091228.pdf
- Commission on Human Security. 2003. *Human Security Now: Protecting and Empowering People*. Retrieved November 4th, 2009, from http://www.humansecurity-chs.org.
- Condon, Stephanie. 2010, April 13th. *Obama: Nuclear Threat Requires Collective Action*. Retrieved April 16th, 2010, from http://www.cbsnews.com/8301-503544_162-20002334-503544.html
- Council of the European Union. 2008. *Report on the Implementation of the European Security Strategy: Providing Security in a Changing World*. Retrieved, March 2nd, from http://www.consilium.europa.eu/ueDocs/cms_Data/docs/pressdata/EN/reports/104630.pdf
- Council of the European Union. 2003. *A Secure Europe in a Better World: A European Security Strategy*. Retrieved, March 2nd, 2010, from http://www.consilium.europa.eu/uedocs/cmsUpload/78367.pdf
- Dagne, Ted. 2009. *Uganda: Current Conditions and the Crisis in North Uganda*. CRS Report for Crongress. Retrieved March 12th, 2010, from http://www.fas.org/sgp/crs/row/RL33701.pdf
- Dannreuther, Roland. 2007. *International Security: The Contemporary Agenda*. Cambridge: Polity Press.

- Deen, Thalif. 2010, March 4th. Rights: U.N. Women's Agency Remains Politically Paralysed. Retrieved April 5th, 2010, from http://www.ips.org/TV/beijing15/rights-u-n-womens-agency-remains-politically-paralysed/
- Dennis, Suzanna and Elaine Zuckerman. 2006. *Gender Guide to World Bank and IMF: Policy-Based Lending*. Gender Action. Retrieved February 15th, 2009, from http://www.genderaction.org/images/Gender%20Guide%20032007.pdf
- Devereux, Stephen and Simon Maxwell (editors). 2001. *Food Security in Sub-Saharan Africa*. London: ITDG Publishing.
- Duffield, Mark. 2001. Global Governance and the New Wars: The Merging of Development and Security. London: Zed Books.
- FESS. 2006b. *Uganda's Fading Luster: Environmental Security in the Pearl of Africa*. Retrieved March 23rd, 2010, from http://www.fess-global.org/Publications/Other/uganda_esaf_full_report.pdf
- Fjármálaráðuneytið. 2010a, March 13th. *Handbók um kynjaða fjárlagagerð*.

 Retrieved March, 30th, 2010, from

 http://www.fjarmalaraduneyti.is/frettir/frettatilkynningar/frettatilkynningar
 /nr/13006
- Fjármálaráðuneytið. 2010b. *Kynjuð fjárlagagerð: Handbók um framkvæmd*.

 Retrieved April 15th, 2010, from

 http://www.fjarmalaraduneyti.is/media/Utgefin_rit/Kynjud_fjarlagagerd_h
 andbok_um_framkvaemd.pdf
- Floyd, Rita. 2007. "Human Security and the Copenhagen School's Securitization Approach: Conceptualizing Human Security as a Securitizing Move". In *Human Security Journal, Volume 5*. (p. 38-49). Retrieved February 16th, 2010, from: http://www.peacecenter.sciencespo.fr/journal/issue5pdf/6.Floyd.pdf
- The Fund for Peace. 2006. *Uganda*. Retrieved February 20th, 2010, from http://www.fundforpeace.org/web/index.php?option=com_content&task=view&id=308&Itemid=454
- Gaspard, Francoise. 2007. "Unfinished Battles: Political and Public Life". In Hanna Beate Schöpp-Schilling og Cees Flinterman (editors), *The Circle of Empowerment: Twenty-Five Years of the UN Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination Against Women*, (p. 14-26). New York: The Feminist Press at CUNY.
- GET Programme. 2009a. *Gender Equality Training Programme: About Us.* Retrieved January 10th, 2010, from http://www.get.hi.is/about_us

- GET Programme. 2009b. *Gender Equality Training Programme: the GET Programme*. Retrieved January 10th, 2010, from http://www.get.hi.is/get_programme
- Goets, Anne Marie. 2008/2009. Who Answers to Women? Gender and Accountability. Progress of the World's Women 2008/2009: New York: United Nations Development Fund for Women. Retrieved March 25th, 2009, from http://www.unifem.org/progress/2008/media/POWW08_Report_Full_Text.pdf
- Guðrún Haraldsdóttir. 2005. Kynjasjónarmið og þróunarsamvinna í fiskigeiranum. *Próunarsamvinna í fiskimálum: Fréttabréf um þróunarmál, 32/20*: 24-27.
- Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, January 20th. Fimmtíu konur settar í svartholið. *Veftímarit um Þróunarmál: Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands*. Retrieved January 20th, 2010, from http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs049/1102056362425/archive/1102952 751580.html
- Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, February 3rd. Stjórnvöld í Úganda hvött til umbóta fyrir kosningar á næsta ári. *Veftímarit um Þróunarmál: Próunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands*. Retrieved February 3rd, 2010, from http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs049/1102056362425/archive/1102994 314582.html
- Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010a, March 10th. Alþjóðlegi Kvennadagurinn 100 ára: Að sameinast um jöfn tækifæri fyrir konur er leið til hagsældar. *Veftímarit um Próunarmál: Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands*. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs049/1102056362425/archive/1103168 143853.html
- Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010b, March 10th. Aukið vægi jafnréttismála í þróunarstarfi utanríkisráðuneytisins: Um 13 % varið til jafnréttismála á þessu ári. *Veftímarit um Þróunarmál: Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands*. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs049/1102056362425/archive/1103168 143853.html
- Gunnar Salvarsson. 2010, April 14th. Norræn stefna í þróunarmálum-er hún til? Fjögurra ára áætlun Íslands lögð fram á þingi í haust. *Veftímarit um Þróunarmál: Þróunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands*. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://archive.constantcontact.com/fs049/1102056362425/archive/1103303 403042.html
- Hampson, Fen Osler. 2008. "Human Security". In Williams, Paul D. (ed), *Security Studies: An Introduction*, (p. 229-243). London: Routledge.

- Handrahan, Lori. 2004. "Conflict, Gender, Ethnicity and Post-Conflict Reconstruction". In *Security Dialogue, Volume 35, Issue 4*. (p. 429- 445). Retrieved February 26th, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/35/4/429.pdf
- Háskóli Íslands. 2010. *Rannsóknarstofa í kvenna og kynjafræðum: Kyn og loftlagsbreytingar*. Retrieved March 1st, 2010, from http://www.rikk.hi.is/kyn_og_loftslagsbreytingar
- Hermann Örn Ingólfsson og Jónas H. Haralz. 2003. *Ísland og þróunarlöndin: Álitsgerð um þróunarsamvinnu Íslands og þátttöku í starfi alþjóðastofnana*. Reykjavík: Utanríkisráðuneytið.
- Hermann Örn Ingólfsson og Elín R. Sigurðardóttir. 2010. *Að varða veginn til framfara*. Lecture held at UNIFEM, Reykjavík on March 6th, 2010. Lecture is held by author.
- Hoogensen, Gunhild and Kirsti Stuvøy, 2006. "Gender, Resistance and Human Security." In *Security Dialogue, Volume 37, Issue 2.* (p. 207-228). Retrieved March 1st, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/37/2/207
- Hudson, Heidi. 2005. "Doing Security as Though Humans Matter: A Feminist Perspective on Gender and the Politics of Human Security". In *Security Dialogue*, *Volume 36*, *Issue 2*. (p. 155-174). Retrieved February 22nd, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/cgi/content/abstract/36/2/155
- Hulda Proppé. 2003. *Úganda* (Smárit ÞSSÍ, nr. 4). Reykjavík: Próunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands.
- Human Security Study Group. 2007. *A European Way of Security: The Madrid Report of the Human Security Study Group comprising a Proposal and Background Report*. Retrieved March 2nd 2010, from http://www.lse.ac.uk/Depts/global/PDFs/Madrid%20Report%20Final%20f or%20distribution.pdf
- ICEIDA. 2001-2007. *Annual Reports*. Retreived February 20th, 2010, from http://www.iceida.is/utgefid-efni/
- ICEIDA. 2007. *ICEIDA-Icelandic Development Cooperation Agency*. Retrieved October 14th, 2009, from http://www.iceida.is/media/pdf/Kynningarbaklingur_-_enska.pdf
- ICEIDA. 2008. *Annual Report 2008*. Retrieved November 30th, 2009, from http://www.iceida.is/media/pdf/ICE_030409_arsskyrsla2008.pdf
- ICEIDA. 2010a. *Nicaragua*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010 from http://www.iceida.is/english/partner-countries-and-activities/nikaragua/
- ICEIDA. 2010b. *Partner Countries and Activities*. Retrieved March 20th, from http://www.iceida.is/english/partner-countries-and-activities/

- ICEIDA. 2010c. *Uganda*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010 from http://www.iceida.is/english/main-activities/uganda/
- The Icelandic International Development Agency. 2005. *ICEIDA's Gender Equality Policy*. (Policy Paper no. 2). Retrieved March 4th, 2008, from http://www.iceida.is/media/pdf/gender.equality.policy.pdf
- Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir. 2008. *Ræða Ingibjargar Sólrúar Gísladóttur utanríkisráðherra, um utanríkismál: Flutt á Alþingi 8. apríl 2008*. Retrieved April 5th, 2009, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/Raedurogerindi/Rada_ISG_utanrikisradherra_til_Altingis.PDF
- Inter Parliamentary Union. 2010. Women in National Parliaments: Situation as of 28 February 2010. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://www.ipu.org/wmn-e/classif.htm
- Internasjonale utviklingsspørsmål. 2010, April 9th. *Nordisk utviklingsdebatt fortsatt likesinnet?* Retrieved April 14th, 2010, from http://www.rorg.no/Artikler/2140.html
- Irin: Humanitarian news and analysis. 2009, November 10th. *Global : Mixed scorecard for donors*. Retrieved November 15th, 2009, from http://www.irinnews.org/report.aspx?ReportID=86957
- Irin: Humanitarian news and analysis. 2010, March 29th. *DRC-UGANDA: Still afraid of the LRA*. Retrieved April 5th, 2010, from http://www.irinnews.org/Report.aspx?ReportId=88603
- John Hopkins Bloomberg School of Public Health. 2003, January 22nd. *Domestic Violence Levels High in Rural Uganda*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010, from http://www.jhsph.edu/publichealthnews/press_releases/PR_2003/uganda_violence.html
- Kabumbuli, Robert, Jotham Mubangizi, Fred Kindi, and James Ssebuliba. 2008. Landowndership and Food Security in Uganda: A Study of Land use and control among Households of Women living with HIV in four Districts. RENEWAL. Retrieved March 23rd, 2010, from http://programs.ifpri.org/renewal/pdf/LandownershipUganda.pdf
- Kiapi, Evelyon Matsamura. 2009, July 17th. *Women Press for Domestic Violence Bill*. Retrieved February 20th, from http://ipsnews.net/news.asp?idnews=47709
- Kiwawulo, Chris. 2010, April 5th. *Uganda: Court Throws Out Petition Do Women Lose Or Gain*. Retrieved April 10th, from http://allafrica.com/stories/201004060759.html
- Kristín Ástgeirsdóttir. 2009, March 13th, Interview by author. Reykjavík, Iceland.

- MacDonald, Lawrence. 2010. *Getting Aid Right in Northern Uganda—Interview with Julius Kiiza of Makerere University, Kampala*. Center for Global Development, Global Prosperity Wonkcast, March 1st. Retrieved March 10th, from http://blogs.cgdev.org/global_prosperity_wonkcast/2010/03/01/getting-aid-right-in-northern-uganda-interview-with-julius-kiiza-of-makerere-university-kampala/
- Malinga, Joseph and Liz Ford. 2010, March 18th. *Ugandan domestic violence bill stalls*. Retrieved March 20th, from http://www.guardian.co.uk/katine/2010/mar/18/uganda-domestic-violence-bill
- Matthew, Richard A. 2010. "Environment, Conflict and Sustainable Development". In Tschirgi, Lund and Mancini (eds), *Security and Development: Searching for Critical Connections*, (p. 47-75). London: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Morgunblaðið. 2010, March 28th. Myrtu yfir 300 þorpsbúa. Retrieved April 4th, 2010, from http://www.mbl.is/mm/frettir/erlent/2010/03/28/myrtu_yfir_300_thorpsbu a/
- Mckay, Susan and Dyan Mazurana. 2004. Where are the Girls? Girls in Fighting Forces in Northern Uganda, Sierra Leone and Mozambique: Their Lives During and After War. Retrieved November 20th, 2009, from http://www.dd-rd.ca/site/_PDF/publications/women/girls_whereare.pdf
- Mingst, Karen A. 2004. Essentials of International Relations. (2. edition). New York: W.W Norton and Company.
- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2007a. *Changed Security Environment New Perspectives in Defence* (Speech given by H.E. Ingibjörg Sólrún Gísladóttir, Minister of Foreign Affairs Defence, November 27, 2007. Association for Western Co-operation, Reykjavik, Iceland). Retrieved February 10th, 2010, from http://eng.utanrikisraduneyti.is/speeches-and-articles/nr/4095
- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2007b. *Annual report 2007: Iceland Crisis Response Unit*. Retrieved November 30th, 2009, from http://eng.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/fridargaeslan/Arsskyrsla_IF_2007_e nska.pdf
- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2008a. Women, Peace and Security: Iceland's Plan of Action for the Implementation of United Nations Security Council Resolution 1325 (2000). Reykjavík: Ministry for Foreign Affairs.
- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2008b. *News Speeches: African Women's Forum*. Retrieved February 20th, from http://eng.utanrikisraduneyti.is/speeches-and-articles/nr/4456

- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2009. Opening Speech of H.E. Mr. Össur Skarphéðinsson. Retrieved April 3rd, 2010, from http://eng.utanrikisraduneyti.is/publications/aifs/nr/5031
- Ministry for Foreign Affairs. 2010. *Iceland's Multilateral Development Cooperation*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010, from http://eng.utanrikisraduneyti.is/foreign-policy/development-cooperation/multilateral
- Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Ministry of Defense and Danish National Police. 2008. Denmark's National Action Plan for implementation of UN Security Council Resolution 1325 on Women, Peace and Security 2008-2013. Retrieved January 20th, 2010 from http://www.uninstraw.org/images/documents/GPS/Denmark%20NAP%20revised%2020 08-2013.pdf
- Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development. 2008. *The Uganda Action Plan on UN Security Council Resolutions 1325 and 1820 and the Goma Declaration*. Retrieved March 23rd, 2010, from http://www.uninstraw.org/images/documents/GPS/UGANDANAP.pdf
- The Ministries of Foreign Affairs in the Nordic Countries. 2009. *Nordic Expert Meeting on a Joint Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights (SRHR) and Gender Equality Agenda*. Retrieved April 15th, 2010, from http://www.norad.no/en/_attachment/154565/binary/89191?download=tru e
- Mohanty, Chandra. 1991. "Under Western Eyes: Feminist Scholarships and Colonial Discourses." In C. Mohanty, A. Russo, and L. Torres (editors), *Third World Women and the Politics of Feminism*, (p. 51-80). Bloomington: Indiana University Press.
- Monitor. 2010, April 6th. *Bududa Survivors still hope to bury their relatives a month after landslide*. Retrieved April 10th, 2010, from http://www.monitor.co.ug/News/National/-/688334/893556/-/wke5wf/index.html
- Moussa, Ghada. 2008. "Gender aspects of human security". In *International Social Science Journal, Volume 59, Issue 1.* (p. 81-100). Retrieved November 3rd, 2009, from http://www3.interscience.wiley.com/cgi-bin/fulltext/121414634/PDFSTART
- Mugisa, Anne, Attractor Kamahoro and Darious Magara. 2010, March 4th. *Uganda: Landslides Hit Kisoro, Kabale*. Retrieved March 20th, from http://allafrica.com/stories/201003041062.html
- Mukasa, Henry and Ronald Kalyango. 2009, September 24th. Uganda: Food Insecurity in Rural Uganda. *AllAfrica*. Retrieved March 19th, 2010 from http://allafrica.com/stories/200909250054.html

- Nabusoba, Irene. 2010, March 7th. Uganda: Aren't Women's Lives worth Saving? *AllAfrica*. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://allafrica.com/stories/201003081029.html
- Newman, Edward. 2001."Human Security and Constructivism". In *International Studies Perspectives Volume 2.* (p. 239-251). Oxford: Blackwell Publishers. Retrieved January 10th, 2010, from: http://people.cas.sc.edu/coate/Readings/Newman.pdf
- NORAD. 2009, November 20th. Nordic Expert Meeting on a Joint SRHR/GE agenda. Retrieved March 10th, 2010 from http://www.norad.no/en/Thematic+areas/Health+and+aids/Maternal,+child +and+women%27s+health/Nordic+Expert+Meeting+on+a+Joint+SRHRG E+agenda.146023.cms
- Norwegian Ministry of Foreign Affairs. 2006. The Norwegian Government's Action Plan for the Implementation of UN Security Council Resolution 1325 (2000) on Women, Peace and Security. Retrieved January 20th, from http://www.un-instraw.org/images/files/Norway%201325%20Action%20Plan%20English .pdf
- Nuruzzaman, Mohammed. 2006. "Paradigms in Conflict: The Contested Claims of Human Security, Critical Theory and Feminism", In *Cooperation and Conflict: Journal of the Nordic International Studies Association, Volume 41, Issue 3.* (p.285-303). Sage Publications. Retrieved February 6th, 2010, from http://cac.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/41/3/285
- OECD. 2008. DAC Guiding Principles for Aid Effectiveness, Gender Equality and Women's Empowerment. Retrieved November 5th, 2009, from http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/14/27/42310124.pdf
- OXFAM International. 2008. From Emergency to Recovery: Rescuing northern Uganda's transition. Retrieved November 30th, 2009, from http://www.oxfam.org/sites/www.oxfam.org/files/bp118-uganda-from-emergency-to-recovery.pdf
- Oxford Policy Management. 2008. *Making Aid More Effective through Gender, Rights and Inclusion: Evidence from Implementing the Paris Declaration* (Uganda Case Study). Retrieved March 12th, 2010, from http://www.opml.co.uk/policy_areas/aid_policy/effective_aid.html
- Paris, Roland. 2001. "Human Security: Paradigm Shift or Hot Air?" In *International Security, Volume 26 Issue 2.* (p. 87-102). MIT Press Journals. Retrieved February 13th, 2010, from http://www.mitpressjournals.org/doi/abs/10.1162/016228801753191141

- Picciotto, Robert, Funmi Olonisakin and Micheal Clarke. 2005. *Global Development and Human Security: Towards a Policy Agenda* (Global Development Studies No. 3). Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Sweden. Retrieved October 3rd, 2009, from http://www.egdi.gov.se/pdf/global_development_human_security.pdf
- Plan International. 2009. *Because I am a Girl: The State of the World's Girls* 2009. Girls in the Global Economy: Adding it All Up. Retrieved December 12th, 2009, from http://plan-international.org/files/global/publications/campaigns/BIAAG% 202009.pdf
- Population Reference Bureau. 2008. *Female Genital Mutilation/Cutting: Data and Trends*. Retrieved February 20th, from http://www.prb.org/pdf08/fgm-wallchart.pdf
- Rød-Larsen, Terje. 2010. "Foreword". In Tschirgi, Necla, Francesco Mancini and Micheal S. Lund (editors), *Security and Development: Searching for Critical Connections*, (p. vii-ix). London: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Security Dialogue. 2010. Special Issue on the Security-Development Nexus Revisited Contents, Volume 41, Volume 41, Issue 1. (February). Retrieved March 3rd, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/content/vol41/issue1/
- Sigurbjörg Sigurgeirsdóttir. 2008a. *Skipulag Þróunarsamvinnu Íslands innan utanríkisráðuneytisins*: *Greinargerð með tillögum til utanríkisráðherra*. Retrieved January 30th, 2009, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/PDF/Trounarsamvinna_a_Islandi. pdf
- Sigurbjörg Sigurgeirsdóttir. 2008b. Nýtt skipulag í þróunarsamvinnu Íslands: Hvers vegna og til hvers? *Þróunarmál: Tímarit Þróunarsamvinnustofnunar*, 22/1: 7-12.
- Sirleaf, Ellen. 2002a. "Violence against women". In Gloria Jacobs (editor), *The Independent Experts' Assessment on the Impact of Armed Conflict on Women and Women's Role in Peace-building*, (p. 9-18). United Nations Development Fund for Women. Retrieved January 20th, 2009, from http://www.unifem.org/attachments/products/213_chapter01.pdf
- Sirleaf, Ellen. 2002b. "War and the Health of Women". In Gloria Jacobs (editor), The Independent Experts' Assessment on the Impact of Armed Conflict on Women and Women's Role in Peace-building, (p. 31-46). United Nations Development Fund for Women. Retrieved January 20th, 2009, from http://www.unifem.org/attachments/products/215_chapter03.pdf
- Sjöfn Vilhelmsdóttir. 2008. Til móts við tækifærin: Jafnréttisskóli við Háskóla Íslands. *Tímarit UNIFEM*, 18/1: 45.

- Stern, Maria and Joakim Öjendal, 2010. "Mapping the Security_Development Nexus: Conflict, Complexity, Cacophony, Convergence?" In *Security Dialogue*, *Volume 41*, *Issue 1*. (p. 5-30). Retrieved March 1st, 2010, from http://sdi.sagepub.com/cgi/reprint/41/1/5
- Stjórnartíðindi. 2009. Reglugerð: um framkvæmd alþjóðlegrar þróunarsamvinnu Íslands. Retrieved March 13th, 2010, from http://www.stjornartidindi.is/Advert.aspx?ID=c3f7a3cf-462a-4a31-8208-bbe884a1b5ce
- Study Group on Europe's Security Capabilities. 2004. A Human Security Doctrine for Europe: The Barcelona Report of the Study Group on Europe's Security Capabilities. Retrieved March 2nd, 2010, from http://www.lse.ac.uk/Depts/global/Publications/HumanSecurityDoctrine.pdf
- Suhrke, Astri. 2007. "Human Security and the Interests of States", In Barry Buzan and Lene Hansen (editors), *International Security*, *Volume IV* (p. 124-134). London: Sage Publications. (Originally the article was published in 1999).
- Survey of War Affected Youth. 2008. *The State of Female Youth in Northern Uganda: Findings from the Survey of War-Affected Youth (SWAY), Phase II*. Retrieved February 20th, 2010, from http://www.peacewomen.org/resources/Uganda/FemaleYouthReport.pdf
- The Swedish Government. 2009. *The Swedish Government's action plan for 2009–2012 to implement Security Council Resolution 1325 (2000) on women, peace and security*. Retrieved January 20th, 2010 from http://www.uninstraw.org/images/documents/GPS/HP1325%202009-2012%20final%20engelsk%20version.pdf
- Tieku, Thomas Kwasi. 2007. "African Union promotion of human security in Africa". In *African Security Review, Volume 16, Issue 2*. (p. 26-37). Retrieved January 10th, 2010, from http://www.issafrica.org/uploads/16_2TIEKU.PDF
- Tickner, J. Ann, 2001. Gendering World Politics: Issues and Approaches in the Post-Cold War Era. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Transparency International. 2009. *Global Corruption Barometer*. Executive Summary. Retrieved April 5th, 2010, from http://www.transparency.org/publications/publications/gcb2009
- Tschirgi, Necla, Francesco Mancini and Micheal S. Lund (editors). 2010. *Security and Development: Searching for Critical Connections*. London: Lynne Rienner Publishers.

- Tsikata, Dzodzi. 2009. "The Systemic crisis' impact on women: sub regional perspectives".
 - In *The crisis' impact on women's rights, Association for Women's Rights in Development* (Brief 6). Retrieved November 23rd, 2009, from http://www.awid.org/eng/content/download/62034/691700/file/BRIEF%2 06%20Tsikata%20FINAL%20ENG.pdf
- Uganda Online Law Library. 1995. *Constitution of the Republic of Uganda, 1995: Arrangement of the Constitution*. (Third Schedule article 10(a)). Retrieved, April 2nd, 2010, from http://www.ugandaonlinelawlibrary.com/files/constitution/constitution_19 95.pdf
- UNDP. 2009. *Overcoming barriers: Human mobility and development*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan. Retrieved January 13th, 2010, from http://hdr.undp.org/en/media/HDR_2009_EN_Complete.pdf
- UNDP. 2005. Human Development Report 2005. International cooperation at a crossroads: Aid, trade and security in an unequal world. New York: Oxford University Press.
- UNDP.1994. *Human Development Report 1994: New Dimensions of Human Security*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- UNESCO. 1995. *Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action: Fourth World Conference on Women*. Retrieved March 13th, 2010, from http://www.unesco.org/education/information/nfsunesco/pdf/BEIJIN_E.P DF
- UNFPA. 2010, March 1st. 54th Commission on the Status of Women Opening Calls for Action on Gender Equality: UNFPA Executive Director addresses high-level panel on behalf of the United Nations. Retrieved, March 20th, 2010, from https://www.unfpa.org/public/cache/offonce/news/pid/4910;jsessionid=46 79BA78781BFA1DAD1D844F1180B23E
- UNICEF. 2005. Female Genital Mutilation/Cutting: A Statistical Exploration. Retrieved March 29th, 2010, from http://www.unicef.org/publications/files/FGM-C_final_10_October.pdf
- UNIFEM. 2003. *Not a minute more: Ending Violence Against Women*. Retrieved March 2nd, 2010, from http://www.unifem.org/attachments/products/312_book_complete_eng.pdf
- UNIFEM. 2009. *Women, Poverty and Economics*. Retrieved February 21st, 2010, from http://www.unifem.org/gender_issues/women_poverty_economics/
- UNIFEM. 2010a. *Að varða veginn til framfara*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010, from http://www.unifem.is/unifem/index.php?option=com_content&task=view &id=347&Itemid=90

- UNIFEM. 2010b. *Gender-Responsive Budgets*. Retrieved April 5th, 2010, from http://www.unifem.org/gender_issues/women_poverty_economics/gender_budgets.php
- United Press International. 2010, April 13th. *Energy Resources: Tullow Oil finds oil in Uganda*. Retrieved April 14th, 2010, from http://www.upi.com/Science_News/Resource-Wars/2010/04/13/Tullow-Oil-finds-oil-in-Uganda/UPI-85841271169368/
- United Nations. 2008. *We can end Poverty 2015: Millennium Development Goals*. Retrieved March 13th, 2010, from http://www.un.org/millenniumgoals/
- United Nations. 2009. World Survey on the Role of Women in Development: Women's Control over Economic Resources and Access to Financial Resources, including Microfinance. Department of Economic and Social Affairs: Division for the Advancement of Women. Retrieved March 17th, 2010, from http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/public/WorldSurvey2009.pdf
- United Nations. 2010. *Global Issues: Women*. Retrieved April 5th, 2010, from http://www.un.org/en/globalissues/women/
- United Nations. 2004. *A more secure world: Our shared responsibility* (Report of the Secretary-General's High-level Panel on Threats, Challenges and Change). Retrieved September 20th, 2009, from http://www.un.org/secureworld/
- United Nations-General Assembly. 2005a(60th session). *Resolution adopted by the General Assembly: 2005 World Summit Outcome*. Retrieved September 25th, 2009: http://unpan1.un.org/intradoc/groups/public/documents/UN/UNPAN02175 2.pdf
- United Nations-General Assembly. 2005b(59th session). *In larger freedom: towards development, security and human rights for all* (Report of the Secretary-General). Retrieved September 25th, 2009, from http://www.un.org/largerfreedom/
- United Nations Security Council. 2009a. *Resolution 1889 (2009) Adopted by the Security Council at its 6196th meeting, on 5 October 2009*. Retrieved November 5th, 2009, from http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N09/542/55/PDF/N0954255.pdf?OpenElem ent
- United Nations Security Council. 2009b. *Resolution 1888 (2009) Adopted by the Security Council at its 6195th meeting, on 30 September 2009*. Retrieved November 5th, 2009, from http://daccess-dds-ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N09/534/46/PDF/N0953446.pdf?OpenElem ent

- United Nations Security Council. 2008. *Resolution 1820 (2008): Adopted by the Security Council at its 5916th meeting, on 19 June 2008*. Retrieved November 5th, 2009, from http://daccess-dds ny.un.org/doc/UNDOC/GEN/N08/391/44/PDF/N0839144.pdf?OpenElem ent
- United Nations Security Council. 2000. *Resolution 1325 (2000): Adopted by the Security Council at its 4213th meeting, on 31 October 2000*. Retrieved November 5th, 2009, from http://www.peacewomen.org/un/sc/res1325.pdf
- University of Gothenburg. 2009, September 25th. Female parliamentarians in Uganda are disadvantaged-despite discrimination. Retrieved March 13th, 2010, from http://www.samfak.gu.se/Faculty+of+Social+science/News_and_events/N ews/News_Detail/Female_parliamentarians_in_Uganda_are_disadvantage d_-_despite_positive_discrimination_.cid895254
- UN Millennium Project 2005a. *Taking Action: Achieving Gender Equality and Empowering Women. Task Force on Education and Gender Equality.*Retrieved March 25th, 2010 from http://www.unmillenniumproject.org/documents/Gender-complete.pdf
- UN Millennium Project 2005b. *Halving Hunger: It Can Be Done*. Task Force on Hunger. Retrieved March 25th, 2010, from http://www.unmillenniumproject.org/documents/Hunger-lowrescomplete.pdf
- UN Millennium Project 2005c. *Environment and Human Well-being: A Practical Strategy*. Summary version of the report of the Task Force on Environmental Sustainability. The Earth Institute at Columbia University, New York, USA. Retrieved March 24th, 2010, from http://www.unmillenniumproject.org/documents/EnvironSust_summary.p df
- UNTFHS. 2009a. Seventh meeting of Friends of Human Security-New York.
 Retrieved February 10th, 2010, from
 http://ochaonline.un.org/OutreachandABHS/Outreach/2009Activities/Seve
 nthmeetingoftheFriendsofHumanSecurity/tabid/6429/language/en-US/Default.aspx
- UNTFHS. 2009b. *Human Security in Theory and Practice: Application of the Human Security Concept and the United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security*. Retrieved December 5th 2009, from http://hdr.undp.org/en/media/HS_Handbook_2009.pdf
- USAID. 2010, March. *Uganda Food Security Update*. Famine Early Warning Systems Network (FEWS NET). Retrieved April 2nd, 2010, from http://www.reliefweb.int/rw/RWFiles2010.nsf/FilesByRWDocUnidFilena me/SVAN-83SRCA-full_report.pdf/\$File/full_report.pdf

- Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2005. *Stefnumið Íslands í þróunarsamvinnu 2005–2009*. Reykjavík: Utanríkisráðuneytið.
- Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2007. *Skipting framlaga til Þróunarsamvinnu 2007*. Retrieved September 20th, 2009, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/throunarsamvinna/Skipting_framla ga_2007_-_m.mynd.pdf
- Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2008. Útgáfa: Ný lög um þróunarsamvinnu marka tímamót, segir utanríkisráðherra. Retrieved February 20th, 2010, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/frettir/nr/4445
- Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2009a. Áhættumatsskýrsla fyrir Ísland: Hnattrænir, samfélagslegir og hernaðarlegir þættir. Reykjavík: Utanríkisráðuneytið. Retrieved September 25th, 2009, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/media/Skyrslur/Skyrsla_um_ahattumat_f yrir_Island_a.pdf
- Utanríkisráðuneytið. 2009b. *Lög og reglugerð um þróunarsamvinnu*. Retrieved March 20th, 2010, from http://www.utanrikisraduneyti.is/verkefni/throunarsvid/log-throunarsamvinnu/
- Varnarmálastofnun Íslands. 2008. *Stofnunin: Hlutverk*. Retrieved February 6th, 2010, from http://www.vmsi.is/stofnunin/hlutverk/
- Vlachova, Marie and Lea Biason (editors). 2005. *Women in an Insecure World:*Facts, Figures and Analysis. Executive Summary. Geneva Centre for the Democratic Control of Armed Forces. Retrieved January February 20th, 2009, from http://www.dcaf.ch/publications/kms/details.cfm?ord279=title&q279=Women&lng=en&id=28582&nav1=5
- Walt, Stephen M. 1998. "International Relations: One World, Many Theories". In *Foreign Policy, No. 110*, (p.29-46). Retrieved January 20th, 2010, from http://faculty.maxwell.syr.edu/hpschmitz/PSC124/PSC124Readings/Walt OneWorldManyTheories.pdf
- Wandia, Mary. 2009, November 19th. Africa: Women's Rights-Looking Back or Moving Forward? Retrieved February 18th, 2010, from http://allafrica.com/stories/200911191103.html
- WEDO. 2008. Gender, Climate Change and Human Security: Lessons from Bangladesh, Ghana and Senegal. (Prepared for Eliamep, May 2008). Retrieved February 13th, 2009, from http://www.wedo.org/files/HSN%20Study%20Final%20May%2020,%202 008.pdf

- Wendt. Alexander. 1992. "Anarchy is what states make of it: The Social Construction of Power Politics". In *International Organization, Volume* 46, *Issue* 2. (p. 391-425). The MIT Press. Retrieved February 10th, 2010, from http://www.jstor.org/stable/2706858
- Wokuri, Margaret. 2009, August 8th. *Uganda: It is Time to Sort Out Women's Political Participation*. Retrieved March 10th, 2010, from http://allafrica.com/stories/200908100075.html
- 1325 Women Negotiating Peace. 2009a. *1325 Women Peace Security: Women Negotiating Peace International Conference in Reykjavík, Iceland 19-20 June 2009*. Retrieved September 25th, 2009, from http://www.1325.is/
- 1325 Women Negotiating Peace. 2009b. *Main Issues*. Retrieved September 25th, 2009, from http://www.1325.is/sites/files/1325/UNSCR%201325%20Reykjavik%20C onference.pdf
- World Food Programme. 2009. *Comprehensive Food Security and Vulnerability Analysis: Uganda*. Retrieved April 2nd, 2010, from http://documents.wfp.org/stellent/groups/public/documents/ena/wfp20249 5.pdf
- World Health Organisation. 2009a. *Women and Health: Today's Evidence Tomorrows Agenda*. Retrieved March 3rd, 2010, from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/publications/2009/9789241563857_eng.pdf
- World Health Organisation. 2009b. *Women and Health: Today's Evidence Tomorrows Agenda*. Executive Summary. Retrieved March 3rd, 2010, from http://whqlibdoc.who.int/hq/2009/WHO IER MHI STM.09.1 eng.pdf
- Wæver, Ole. 2007. "Securitization and desecuritization". In Barry Buzan and Lene Hansen (editors), *International Security*, *Volume III*.(p. 66-98). London: Sage Publications. (Originally the article was published in 1995).
- Young, Helen. 2001. "Nutrition and Intervention Strategies". In Stephen Devereux and Simon Maxwell (editors), *Food in Sub-Saharan Africa*, (p. 231-266). London: ITDG Publishing
- Pórarinna Söebech. 2008. Byggðarþróun í Kalangala. *Próunarmál: Tímarit Próunarsamvinnustofnunar*, 22/1: 47-52.
- Þórdís Sigurðardóttir. 2010, April 14th. Interview by author: tape recording. Reykjavík, Iceland.
- Próunarsamvinnustofnun Íslands. 2010. *Tækifæri til að breyta lífi fólks*": viðtal við Drífu Hrönn Kristjánsdóttur verkefnastjóra ÞSSÍ á Ssese eyjum.

 Retrieved April 20th, 2010, from http://www.iceida.is/frettir/nr/1191

Annex: List of Abbreviations and Acronyms

AOGU Association of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists of Uganda

AU African Union

CEDAW Convention on the Elimination of all Forms of Discrimination against

Women

CHS Commission on Human Security

DAC Development Assistance Committee (OECD)
DANIDA Danish International Development Agency

DCAF Geneva Centre for Democratic Control of Armed Forces

DRC Democratic Republic of Congo ESS European Security Strategy

EU European Union

FALP Functional Adult Literacy Programme FAO Food and Agriculture Organization

FGM Female Genital Mutilation FHS Friends of Human Security

GET Gender Equality Training Programme

GRB Gender Responsive Budgeting

ICEIDA Icelandic International Development Agency

ICC International Criminal Court
ICRU Icelandic Crisis Response Unit
IDA Icelandic Defence Agency
IDP Internally Displaced Person

KDDP Kalangala District Development Programme

LRA Lord's Resistance Army

MDGs Millennium Development Goals MFA Ministry for Foreign Affairs NDF Nordic Development Fund NGO Non-Governmental Agency

NORAD Norwegian Agency for Development Cooperation PEPFAR U.S. President's Emergency Plan for AIDS Relief

R2P Responsibility to Protect

SDGEA Solemn Declaration on Gender Equality in Africa SIDA Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency

SRHR Sexual and Reproductive Health and Rights

SWAY Survey for War Affected Youth

WEDO Women's Environment and Development Organization

WFP World Food Programme

WHO The World Health Organization
UDHS Ugandan Demographic Health Survey

UN United Nations

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

UNFPA United Nations Population Fund UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund UNIFEM United Nations Fund for Women

UNSCR United Nations Security Council Resolution
UNTFHS United Nations Trust Fund for Human Security

UNU United Nations University
UPE Universal Primary Education

USG-ERC Under-Secretary-General for Humanitarian Affairs and Emergency

Relief